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II. FINANCIAL SUMMARY AND  
FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023

Revenue (RMB in thousand) 683,511 651,875

Gross profit (RMB in thousand) 172,324 151,831

Gross profit margin 25.2% 23.3%

Profit for the year (RMB in thousand) 71,482 70,178

Net profit margin 10.5% 10.8%

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company  

(RMB in thousand) 71,858 70,178

Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB) 0.50 0.58

Proposed final dividend per share (RMB) 0.23 nil
   

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As of December 31,

2024 2023

(RMB in thousands)

Total assets 896,548 650,094

Cash and cash equivalents 354,668 210,210

Total equity 374,518 255,854
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II. FINANCIAL SUMMARY AND FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RECENT FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the year ended December 31,

2021 2022 2023 2024

(RMB in thousands)

Revenue 431,653 528,523 651,875 683,511

Cost of sales (324,347) (406,976) (500,044) (511,187)

Gross profit 107,306 121,547 151,831 172,324

Profit and total comprehensive income  

for the year 40,841 53,596 70,178 71,482

Profit attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 40,400 53,095 70,178 71,858

Non-controlling interests 441 501 – (376)

Earnings per share, basis and diluted (RMB) 0.34 0.44 0.58 0.50
     

As of December 31,

2021 2022 2023 2024

(RMB in thousands)

Assets

Non-current assets 62,884 45,750 53,834 59,560

Current assets 393,689 493,715 596,260 836,988

Total assets 456,573 539,465 650,094 896,548

Equity and liabilities

Total equity 143,915 185,676 255,854 374,518

Non-current liabilities – 30 2,132 3,999

Current liabilities 312,658 353,759 392,108 518,031

Total liabilities 312,658 353,789 394,240 522,030

Total equity and liabilities 456,573 539,465 650,094 896,548
     



6 2024 Annual Report

III. CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Hollwin Urban Operation Services Group Co., Ltd (the 

“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am pleased to present the annual report for the year ended 

December 31, 2024.

On May 17, 2024, the Company successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 

“Stock Exchange”) – an important milestone in our corporate journey. During the year, we were also named one of the 

“China Reform Cases of the Year 2024 (中國改革2024年度案例)” and featured in the “Reinforcing Reform and Opening-

Up (強化改革開放引領)” section of the Changsha Municipal Government Work Report (《長沙市政府工作報告》). These 

achievements significantly enhanced our brand visibility and social reputation.

In 2024, amid a complex and evolving market environment, the Group maintained steady progress by focusing on 

strategic priorities including market expansion, resolution of legacy issues, and collection of outstanding receivables. 

We recorded revenue of RMB678 million, representing solid year-on-year growth, and net profit of RMB69.17 million, 

sustaining a healthy profitability level. These results reflect the Group’s strong execution capabilities and the effectiveness 

of its market-oriented, professional, and refined operational approach.

Focusing on core urban operation scenarios, the Group achieved multi-service synergy upgrades in landmark projects 

such as Orange Isle (橘子洲) and Xiangjiang Riverside Belt (湘江風光帶), earning commendations from provincial and 

municipal leaders for our innovative achievements. We also took steps to enhance our industry ecosystem by joining the 

Hong Kong Small and Medium Listed Companies Association (香港中小企業上市公司協會) and establishing a dedicated 

security subsidiary – further building our “Property Services +” model and reinforcing our stable growth momentum.

The Group’s strong performance and service capabilities were widely recognized. In 2024, we ranked 23rd among 

“Top State-Owned Property Management Enterprises in China (中國國有物業服務優秀企業)” and 47th among the “Top 

100 Property Management Companies in China (中國物業服務百強企業),” while also receiving 26 provincial or higher-

level honors. As a state-owned enterprise committed to public service, we efficiently resolved 7,983 cases through the 

12345 Government Hotline and Smart Urban Management Platforms (政務熱線平台及智慧城管平台), with an average 

satisfaction rate of approximately 98.7% – demonstrating our commitment to social responsibility and service excellence.

Throughout the year, we adhered firmly to our safety-first philosophy. Our comprehensive safety measures in flood 

prevention, fire control, and disaster mitigation resulted in zero major safety incidents in 2024. The Group was recognized 

as an advanced key unit for fire safety in the city, among other accolades.
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III. CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Looking ahead to 2025, the Group will deepen capital operations and resource integration, further consolidating our 

market position in Hunan Province. We will remain focused on improving service quality, accelerating our digital and 

intelligent transformation, and building core competitiveness across diversified business lines. At the same time, we will 

continue to strengthen internal controls, uphold a high standard of transparency, and embrace sustainable development 

principles – delivering greater long-term value to our shareholders and contributing positively to society.

Hollwin Urban Operation Service Group Co., Ltd

Mr. Xie Yi

Chairman and Executive Director

Changsha, Hunan Province, the PRC

March 31, 2025
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IV. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

The property management industry has gone through more than 40 years of development in China since 1981 when 

the first domestic management company was founded in Shenzhen. The property management industry has undergone 

changes, with economic growth, also urbanization, consumption upgrades and rising income levels of residents, 

providing demand for the property service market; industry policies have gradually evolved from normative to supportive 

and encouraging; the application of the Internet has started from scratch, gradually moving from concept to reality, and 

the technological content of the industry has increased; in the capital market, from being left out to being noticed and 

then to being valued, the value of companies has been repositioned, and capital has become a booster for accelerating 

the development of companies. The series of policies, economic and technological environment and other favorable 

factors together promoted the development of the property management industry. The scale continues to grow, and 

its social status has improved. It has become a crucial sector for promoting economic and livelihood development, 

maintaining social harmony and stability, and fostering sustainable urban development.

Urban services are a collective term for comprehensive services provided to the government, businesses, and residents 

on top of traditional property management. Urban service is a broad concept that includes many subdivided areas, 

encompassed landscaping and engineering, parking lot operation, lighting system operation, municipal sanitation 

services, and more. With the push from government to improve public services, a new model of “urban services” has 

emerged. This has opened up opportunities for property management companies to participate in public services and 

social governance, thereby creating a vast market for urban services. As “refined city management (城市精細化管理)” 

is promoted, it is natural for property management companies to venture into the urban services market and property 

management companies have a natural advantage. This diversity implies a vast market space.

Commercial operation services involve businesses offering an array of consulting and operational services covering the 

entire lifecycle of commercial properties, including, but not limited to, positioning planning, design consulting, engineering 

consulting, investment consulting, planning promotion, and commercial operation services. Since 2020, the PRC has 

been committed to optimizing the consumer environment and promoting commercial prosperity and sustainable healthy 

development of the national economy at the policy level. Focused on expanding domestic demand and stimulating 

consumption, a variety of policies have been implemented across multiple fields, continually enhancing the consumption 

upgrade. This proposed to align with the trend of resident consumption upgrade, accelerate the improvement of 

consumer promotion mechanisms, further improve the consumption environment, bring into play the basic role of 

consumption, and help form a strong domestic market.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a state-owned urban service and operation provider deeply rooted in Hunan Province, especially in 

Changsha. The H shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on May 17, 2024 by way 

of global offering (the “Listing”).
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IV. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group focuses on providing a wide spectrum of services to its customers, forming a cohesive business layout 

rooted in urban area. Headquartered in Changsha, Hunan Province, the Group has established a solid market presence 

in the region. The services the Group provides can be divided into three reporting segments depending on service 

characteristics and industry standards: (i) property management services, including different property management 

services and value-added services to public properties, commercial properties, and residential properties; (ii) urban 

services, including landscaping and engineering, lighting system operation, parking lot operation, and municipal sanitation 

services; and (iii) commercial operation services.

The Group has built a reputation in the local market by serving a variety of property owners and developers, and its 

prospects are reliant on the relationships the Group has cultivated with these property owners and developers. The 

Group believes that provision of diverse services will improve customers’ loyalty, increase the Group’s brand recognition 

and enhance business operations and financial performance. According to China Index Academy (“CIA”), the Group 

was ranked 47th among the top 100 property management service enterprises in China in 2024. The Group was also 

recognized as a “Leading Enterprise of Characteristic Property Management Service in China 2024” (2024中國特色物

業服務領先企業), “Leading Smart Urban Services Enterprise in China 2024” (2024中國智慧城市服務領先企業), and 

“Outstanding Property Management Well-known Enterprise in Urban Services in China 2024” (2024中國城市服務優秀物

業品牌企業) by CIA.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group derived revenue primarily from three reporting segments, namely, (i) 

property management services; (ii) urban services; and (iii) commercial operation services.

Project Portfolio

The following table sets forth the number of projects and the gross floor area (“GFA”) under management of property 

management services, urban services, and commercial operation services as of the dates indicated:

As of December 31,

2024 2023

Number of 

projects

GFA under 

management 

Number of 

projects

GFA under 

management 

(million sq.m.) (million sq.m.)

Property management services 81 11.4 68 11.1

Urban services (1) 265 – 242 –

Commercial operation services 57 0.8 50 0.8
     

Total 403 12.2 360 11.9
     

Note:

(1)	 Urban services projects are not measured by GFA under management.
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IV. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property management services – accounting for approximately 42.6% of the Group’s total revenue

The Group provides public property management services, commercial property management services and residential 

property management services. Public properties include civic squares, parks and scenic spots, urban exhibition halls, 

government office buildings and schools; commercial properties include commercial office buildings, commercial 

complexes and sales centers; and residential properties mainly include residences and apartments. In addition, the 

Group also provides a wide range of value-added services to address customers’ needs and improve their experience 

at the managed properties, such as customized order maintenance services, decoration management services, and 

affiliated carpark space management services.

The following table sets forth the number of projects and GFA under management of property management services by 

property type as of the dates indicated:

As of December 31

2024 2023

Number of 

projects

GFA under 

management 

Number of 

projects

GFA under 

management 

(million sq.m.) (million sq.m.)

Public properties 30 7.0 24 7.6

Commercial properties 39 2.5 36 2.1

Residential properties 12 1.8 8 1.4
     

Total 81 11.4 68 11.1
     

During the year ended December 31, 2024 (the “Reporting Period”), the Group’s revenue from property management 

services amounted to approximately RMB291.1 million, representing an increase of approximately 22.4% as compared 

to the same period in 2023, mainly due to the increase in the GFA and number of projects under management of the 

Group.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had 81 property management service projects under management in total, with an 

increase of 13 projects compared to December 31, 2023, which was primarily because the Group enhanced its efforts in 

market expansion by utilizing the business resources of Changsha Urban Development Group Co., Ltd.* (長沙城市發展

集團有限公司) (“CSUDGCL”) and its subsidiaries, excluding our Group (“CSUD Group”) and actively exploring business 

opportunities with independent third-party customers. As of December 31, 2024, the GFA under management of the 

Group’s property management services was approximately 11.4 million sq. m., representing a year-on-year increase of 

2.7%.
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IV. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following table sets forth the number of projects and GFA under management of property management services by 

project source as of the dates indicated:

As of December 31

2024 2023

Number of 

projects

GFA under 

management 

Number of 

projects

GFA under 

management 

(million sq.m.) (million sq.m.)

CSUD Group and its associates 56 4.7 48 4.3

Independent third parties 25 6.6 20 6.7
     

Total 81 11.4 68 11.1
     

During the Reporting Period, a majority of property management service projects under management were sourced 

from CSUD Group and its associates. As of December 31, 2024, the number of projects sourced from CSUD Group 

and its associates was 56, while the number of projects sourced from independent third parties was 25, representing 

an increase of eight and five projects compared to December 31, 2023, respectively. The GFA under management 

of projects sourced from CSUD Group and its associates was approximately 4.7 million sq.m., while the GFA under 

management of projects sourced from independent third parties was approximately 6.6 million sq.m., remaining relatively 

stable as compared to December 31, 2023.

The following table sets forth the number of projects and GFA under management of property management services by 

region as of the dates indicated:

As of December 31

2024 2023

Number of 

projects

GFA under 

management 

Number of 

projects

GFA under 

management 

(million sq.m.) (million sq.m.)

Hunan Province (Changsha) 78 10.8 66 10.6

Jiangxi Province (Pingxiang) 1 –(1) 2 0.5

Guizhou Province (Guiyang) 2 0.6 0 0
     

Total 81 11.4 68 11.1
     

Note:

(1)	 For this specific commercial property management service project located in Jiangxi Province, GFA was not 

specified in its contract.
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IV. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group managed 78 properties with an aggregate GFA under management of 

approximately 10.8 million sq.m. in Hunan Province. Meanwhile, during the Reporting Period, the Group downsized its 

operation in Jiangxi Province but expanded into the property management service market in Guizhou Province, managing 

two projects with an aggregate GFA under management of approximately 0.6 million sq.m.

Urban services – accounting for approximately 48.4% of the Group’s total revenue

Founded on the Group’s established expertise, experience and track record of providing quality and tailor-made 

management services to various categories of properties, the Group has been extending its business capacities 

to become a state-owned professional urban service provider specializing in serving public spaces and municipal 

infrastructures. The Group assists local governments and public institutions in providing urban services to improve the 

living experience and environment of citizens. The Group’s urban services mainly include (i) landscaping and engineering, 

including landscape construction and engineering construction; (ii) lighting system operation, including landscape lighting 

operation and functional lighting operation; (iii) parking lot operation including the operation and management of public 

parking spaces by self-operation and leasing; and (iv) municipal sanitation services including the cleaning of municipal 

infrastructures such as city roads, the external walls of buildings along the main road, street lamps, and bus platforms.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue from urban services amounted to approximately RMB331.1 million, 

representing a decrease of approximately 6.3% from approximately RMB353.3 million for the same period in 2023. The 

decrease was primarily due to a decline in revenue from landscaping and engineering services, driven by the completion 

of several major projects in 2023, which resulted in the recognition of a substantial portion of revenue during that period. As 

of December 31, 2024, the total aggregate number of urban services projects was 265, with an increase of 23 projects 

compared to December 31, 2023.

Landscaping and engineering

Taking modern city landscaping and engineering as one of its foci in urban services, the Group is a landscaping 

construction provider integrating (i) landscaping, mainly including landscape greening, scenery, garden water application, 

garden electricity application, garden road engineering, landscape structures, and rooftop greening; and (ii) engineering, 

mainly including garbage disposal, heat pipe engineering and hard paving of surface parking lots. As of December 31, 

2024, the Group completed 111 landscaping and engineering projects, representing an approximate increase of 30.6% 

compared to the 85 projects completed by December 31, 2023. The increase is attributed to the shorter duration of 

many projects, leading to a substantial rise in completed projects compared to the same period last year.

Lighting system operation

The Group’s lighting system operation is divided into two categories, landscape lighting operation and functional lighting 

operation. Landscape lighting mainly refers to the lighting of scenic spots, high-rise buildings, and other places within 

the urban planning area, with the primary purpose to enhance the cultural and artistic atmosphere of the city. Functional 

urban lighting mainly refers to the lighting of public areas such as roads, tunnels, bridges, and squares within the urban 

planning area, with the primary purpose to improve the safety and convenience of the city. As of December 31, 2024, 

the Group had been providing services for four lighting system operation projects, remaining stable as compared to 

December 31, 2023.
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IV. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Parking lot operation

The Group is mainly engaged in the operation and management of stand-alone public parking lots on the ground, 

underground, and under bridge. According to its business operation, the Group divides the parking lot operation into 

two models: self-operation and leasing to other entities or individuals. By utilizing abundant site resources, including 

geographical advantages and economies of scale, the Group can meet the needs of different users and bring stable 

business opportunities. As of December 31, 2024, the Group had been providing services for 147 parking lot operation 

projects, remaining stable as compared to December 31, 2023.

Municipal sanitation services

Leveraging its advantages built on providing traditional property management services, the Group has been exploring, 

investigating and developing in the fields of municipal sanitation and environmental sanitation, forming a competitive 

urban operation service pattern. The municipal sanitation services the Group provides mainly include road cleaning, 

sweeping and upkeep, and cleaning of bus stops and signage. The Group also provides services of cleaning, collection 

and transportation of urban domestic waste. As of December 31, 2024, the Group had been providing services for three 

municipal sanitation projects, remaining stable as compared to December 31, 2023.

Commercial operation services – accounting for approximately 9.0% of the Group’s total revenue

The Group offers a wide range of commercial property operation services to developers, owners, and tenants, including 

preliminary business planning, preliminary operation analysis, tenant recruitment, lease agreement formulation, opening 

guidance, and daily operation counselling.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group provided commercial operation services to 57 commercial properties. During the 

Reporting Period, the Group undertook seven new projects, which was mainly due to the fact that the Group deepened 

its cooperation relationship between its existing customers and increased market expansion efforts. As of December 31, 

2024, the total GFA under management of the Group’s commercial operation services was approximately 822 thousand 

sq. m., representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 7.3% from approximately 766 thousand sq. m. as of 

December 31, 2023.

To strengthen cooperation relationship and promote long-term business growth, the Group has offered customers 

certain discounts for some newly engaged projects. As a result, during the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue from 

commercial operation services remained relatively stable at RMB61.3 million as compared to RMB60.7 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2023.
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IV. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE OUTLOOK

In 2025, the Group will remain committed to its mission of “making urban life better”, striving to enhance service quality, 

optimize operational efficiency, and drive sustainable growth. The Group will continue to focus on expanding its market 

presence, strengthening brand recognition, leveraging technology, and improving corporate governance to reinforce its 

competitive edge.

(i)	 Strengthening Market Position and Expanding Business Scale

The Group will work to further solidify its market presence in Hunan Province while carefully exploring growth 

opportunities that are consistent with its strategic vision. The Group plans to continue utilizing the project reserves 

held by CSUD Group and its subsidiaries to support additional urban development and property management 

initiatives. Beyond its collaboration with CSUD Group, the Group is committed to broadening its customer base 

through measured and selective engagement with independent third-party developers, government agencies, and 

other strategic clients. This approach is designed to enhance its service portfolio and diversify revenue streams in a 

manner that aligns with its overarching long-term objectives.

(ii)	 Enhancing Service Quality and Building Brand Value

Going forward, the Group will maintain a strong focus on delivering exceptional service quality and ensuring 

customer satisfaction in response to the evolving needs of urban residents and businesses. The Group’s efforts 

will center on the ongoing improvement of existing processes to ensure that its urban service offerings remain 

flexible, responsive, and aligned with market demands. By emphasizing operational excellence and clear, 

consistent communication with customers, it aims to reinforce its market reputation, enhance customer loyalty, 

and strengthen its competitive position within the urban service sector. These measured initiatives are intended to 

support sustainable growth and help secure its standing as a trusted provider in the industry.

(iii)	 Utilizing Technology to Drive Smart Transformation

The Group acknowledges the importance of technology in improving operational efficiency and supporting business 

functions. In 2025, it will continue to adopt a measured approach to upgrading its digital infrastructure and 

refining its operational systems. The Group’s transformation strategy includes expanding smart service solutions 

designed to improve service delivery, along with strengthening cybersecurity measures to protect customer data 

and ensure full regulatory compliance. By leveraging these digital innovations, the Group aims to drive operational 

improvements, lower costs, and deliver an exceptional service experience for customers.

(iv)	 Strengthening Corporate Governance to Ensure Long-Term Development

The Group will also place importance on maintaining robust corporate governance, adhering to high standards of 

transparency, risk management, and regulatory compliance. In alignment with industry best practices, the Group 

is committed to enhancing its sustainability initiatives by integrating Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) 

considerations into operations. Its focus includes implementing eco-friendly property management solutions to 

reduce carbon emissions, promoting employee development and workplace safety to foster a high-performance 

culture, and engaging in community development projects to contribute to social well-being. These efforts 

underscore its dedication to sustainable growth and responsible corporate citizenship, ensuring the long-term 

interests of the Group’s stakeholders are safeguarded.
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IV. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group increased by 4.9% from RMB651.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 

to RMB683.5 million for the Reporting Period, primarily due to the revenue contribution from provision of property 

management services.

•	 Property management services. Revenue from property management services increased by 22.4% from RMB237.9 

million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB291.1 million for the Reporting Period, mainly attributable 

to (i) an increase in the GFA under management from 11.1 million sq. m. as of December 31, 2023 to 11.4 million 

sq. m. as of December 31, 2024; and (ii) an increase in the number of projects under management from 68 as of 

December 31, 2023 to 81 as of December 31, 2024.

•	 Urban services. Revenue from urban services decreased by 6.3% from RMB353.3 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2023 to RMB331.1 million for the Reporting Period, primarily due to a decrease in the revenue from 

landscaping and engineering services, resulting from (i) the completion of certain major projects that commenced 

in 2023, and (ii) a decrease in the contract value of the newly engaged projects. The decrease in the revenue from 

landscaping and engineering services was partially offset by an increase in the revenue from municipal sanitation 

services, mainly attributable to the newly acquired projects during the period.

•	 Commercial operation services. Revenue from commercial operation services remained relatively stable at 

RMB60.7 million and RMB61.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Cost of Sales

The cost of sales of the Group slightly increased by 2.2% from RMB500.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 

to RMB511.2 million for the Reporting Period, which was in line with the revenue growth for the same period.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group increased by 13.5% from RMB151.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 

RMB172.3 million for the Reporting Period, and the gross profit margin of the Group increased from 23.3% for the year 

ended December 31, 2023 to 25.2% for the Reporting Period. Such increase was mainly attributable to (i) the continued 

implementation of cost-saving measures for property management services, such as reducing utility consumption 

by applying energy-efficient renovations in common areas and elevating labor efficiency by streamlining tasks; (ii) the 

enhanced cost management for landscaping and engineering services; (iii) the enhanced cost efficiency for municipal 

sanitation services, benefiting from the integration of services across the municipal sanitation projects and the property 

management projects that were located in the same area; and (iv) further-optimized management information system, 

resulting in a decrease in labor costs of parking lot operation.
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Other Net Income

The Group’s other net income decreased by 75.5% from RMB2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 

RMB0.5 million for the Reporting Period, primarily due to a decrease in the super deduction of value-added tax as a 

result of the adjustment in the relevant policy.

Selling Expenses

The Group’s selling expenses remained relatively stable at RMB4.7 million and RMB4.4 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by 27.6% from RMB53.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 

to RMB68.1 million for the Reporting Period, primarily due to an increase in administrative personnel and a corresponding 

increase in wages and salaries.

Expected Credit Loss

The Group’s expected credit loss increased by 33.6% from RMB7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 

RMB9.7 million for the Reporting Period, primarily due to the increased trade receivables and contract assets along with 

the expansion of the Group’s business scale.

Finance Income

The Group’s finance income increased by 23.4% from RMB2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB2.7 

million for the Reporting Period, primarily due to an increase in cash at banks, leading to higher interest income from 

bank deposits.

Share of Profits Less Losses of an Associate and Joint Ventures

The Group’s share of profits less losses of an associate and joint ventures decreased by 15.7% from RMB2.2 million for 

the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB1.8 million for the Reporting Period, primarily due to a decrease in shared 

results of the associate and joint ventures.
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Income Tax

The Group’s income tax increased by 3.5% from RMB22.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB23.6 

million for the Reporting Period, mainly attributable to the increase in the profit before taxation

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded the profit and total comprehensive income for the year of RMB70.2 

million and RMB71.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Inventories

The Group’s inventories decreased by 11.4% from RMB4.2 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB3.7 million as of 

December 31, 2024, mainly because we managed our inventory level in light of the decreased revenue from lighting 

system operation services.

Contract Assets

The Group’s contract assets increased by 14.7% from RMB249.7 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB286.3 million 

as of December 31, 2024, primarily due to (i) the expansion of the Group’s business scale, and (ii) the prolonged fiscal 

review process and settlement period of the Group’s certain customers.

Trade Receivables

The Group’s trade receivables increased by 95.3% from RMB84.7 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB165.4 million 

as of December 31, 2024, primarily due to (i) the expansion of the Group’s business scale, and (ii) the prolonged period 

of settlement with certain customers of the Group.

Prepayment and Other Receivables

The Group’s prepayment and other receivables decreased by 46.6% from RMB40.5 million as of December 31, 2023 

to RMB21.6 million as of December 31, 2024, primarily due to the Group recorded prepayment for listing expenses 

of RMB19.6 million as of December 31, 2024 and such prepayment for listing expenses was offset against the gross 

proceeds from the Listing in capital reserve of the Group.

Trade Payables

The Group’s trade payables increased by 43.4% from RMB228.8 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB328.1 million as 

of December 31, 2024, primarily due to the slower settlement process of the Group with its suppliers resulting from the 

prolonged period of settlement by certain of the Groups customers.
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Other Payables

The Group’s other payables increased by 16.0% from RMB130.9 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB151.9 million 

as of December 31, 2024, primarily due to (i) an increase in deposits, resulting from the increased number of projects, (ii) 

an increase in other taxes and charges payables in line with the growth of our business, and (iii) an increase in accrued 

payroll and other benefits, resulting from the increased number of employees.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The Group’s property, plant and equipment consist primarily of (i) machinery and electronic equipment, (ii) motor vehicles, 

(iii) right-of-use assets, (iv) leasehold improvement, (v) furniture and others, and (vi) construction in progress. The carrying 

amount of property, plant and equipment remained relatively stable at RMB18.0 million and RMB17.3 million as of 

December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources and Current Assets

In order to manage the Group’s cash, maintain strong and healthy liquidity and ensure that the Group is well positioned 

to take advantage of future growth opportunities, the Group has adopted comprehensive treasury policies and internal 

control measures to review and monitor its financial resources and has maintained stable financial condition and sufficient 

liquidity throughout. As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding borrowings or banking facilities.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB354.7 million, representing an 

increase of 68.7% as compared with RMB210.2 million as of December 31, 2023. The increase was mainly attributable 

to the proceeds from the Global Offering. The Group’s net cash flows from operating activities remained relatively 

stable at RMB77.7 million and RMB76.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively. The 

management believes that the Group has sufficient financial resources and future revenue to support the current working 

capital requirement and future expansion of the Group.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s principal activities are conducted in the PRC. Except for certain net proceeds raised from the Listing, 

which are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, the Group is not exposed to any significant risk directly related to foreign 

exchange fluctuations. Taking into account the potential RMB exchange rate fluctuations, the Group will continue to 

monitor its foreign exchange exposure and take prudent measures to reduce its foreign exchange risk. For the year 

ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes.
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Capital Commitment and Capital Expenditure

The Group mainly has capital commitments with respect to contribution to the associate and joint ventures. Capital 

expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 was RMB6.7 million and RMB6.6 

million, respectively.

The following table sets out the Group’s capital expenditure for the years indicated:

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023

(RMB in thousands)

Additions to purchase of property, plant and equipment and  

  other non-current assets 4,935 10,439

Capital contribution to a joint venture – 510
   

Total 4,935 10,949
   

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio was 139.4% as of December 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023: 154.1%). The gearing ratio is 

calculated by dividing total liabilities by total equity as of the date indicated and multiplied by 100%.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as of December 31, 2024.

Pledge of Assets

As of December 31, 2024, none of the assets of the Group was pledged.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals and Future Plans

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any significant investments, material acquisitions and 

disposals.

Except for the expansion plans disclosed in the sections headed “Business” and “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in 

the Company’s prospectus dated May 8, 2024 (the “Prospectus”), there were no significant investments or acquisition 

of capital assets authorized by the Board as of the date of this announcement, and the Group will continue to identify 

new opportunities for business development.
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Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on May 17, 2024 by way of global offering of ordinary 

shares of the Company, including a public offering in Hong Kong of 12,000,000 shares and an international offering of 

28,000,000 shares, in each case at a price of HK$3.2 per share (collectively the “Global Offering”). After deducting the 

underwriting fees and relevant expenses, net proceeds from the Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$86.4 

million. Such proceeds have been and will continue to be applied in the manner consistent with that in the Prospectus:

Usage

% of total net 

proceeds

Planned 

allocation of net 

proceeds

Utilized net 

proceeds as of 

December 31, 

2024

Unutilized net 

proceeds as of 

December 31, 

2024

Expected 

timeline for 

full utilization 

of the balance

HK$ million 

(approximately)

HK$ million 

(approximately)

HK$ million 

(approximately)

Strategic acquisitions, including strategic acquisitions of property management 

service providers specializing in professional service providers and urban service 

providers with relevant operation experience and required qualifications

29.2% 25.2 – 25.2 By the end of 

2025

Purchase of vehicles and equipment, including:

(i)  Purchase operational vehicles for municipal sanitation services 19.8% 17.1 – 17.1 By the end of 

2026

(ii)  Procure operational vehicles and equipment for lighting system operation 

services

1.2% 1.0 – 1.0 By the end of 

2025

Technological investment, including

(i)  Develop and optimize the internal management information system 8.5% 7.4 2.3 5.1 By the end of 

2026

(ii)  Develop and enhance business operating system 7.4% 6.4 – 6.4 By the end of 

2027

(iii)  Develop device connection systems 8.5% 7.4 – 7.4 By the end of 

2026

(iv)  Recruit engineers for software development and maintenance 0.8% 0.7 – 0.7 By the end of 

2026

Talent training and retention

(i)  Expand the Group’s dedicated team 13.7% 11.8 – 11.8 By the end of 

2027

(ii)  Optimize talent training programs 1.6% 1.4 – 1.4 By the end of 

2027

Working capital 9.3% 8.0 – 8.0 By the end of 

2025
      

Total 100.0% 86.4 2.3 84.1
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The utilization of the net proceeds has been converted from RMB into HKD at an exchange rate of RMB0.9081 to 

HKD1.00 (the reference exchange rate used in the Prospectus). No representation is made that any amount in HKD or 

RMB could have been or could be converted at the above rates or of any other rates. The net proceeds are currently 

held in bank deposits and will continue to be applied in the manner consistent with the proposed allocations in the 

Prospectus. For further information, please refer to the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the 

Prospectus.

As of the date of this annual report, there has been no material change in the actual use of the net proceeds from the 

intended use.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 562 employees. For the Reporting Period, the total staff cost of 

the Group was RMB107.1 million (the year ended December 31, 2023: RMB91.5 million). The Group’s employee 

remuneration policy is determined by factors such as remuneration in respect of the local market, the overall 

remuneration standard in the industry, the inflation level, corporate operating efficiency and employee performance. The 

Group conducts performance appraisals once every year for its employees, the results of which are applied in annual 

salary reviews and promotional assessments. The Group considers the employee’s annual bonuses according to certain 

performance criteria and appraisals results. Social insurance contributions are made by the Group for its PRC employees 

in accordance with the relevant PRC regulations. The Group also provides continuous learning and training programs 

to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to maintain their competitiveness and improve customer 

service quality. The Group did not experience any major difficulties in recruitment, nor did it experience any material loss 

in manpower or suffer from any material labor dispute during the Reporting Period.
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Below are the brief profiles of our current Directors, Supervisors and senior management.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, of which four are executive Directors, one is non-executive Director and 

three are independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Xie Yi (謝毅), aged 46, has been an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of our Company since 

November 2018. Mr. Xie is primarily responsible for the daily operations, formulation of the overall strategy, business 

planning and operation decisions of our Group.

Mr. Xie currently holds the following positions in the subsidiaries of our Company as set out below:

Name of entity Position

Changsha Chengfa Property Management Co., Ltd.* 

(長沙城發物業管理有限公司)

Executive Director

 Changsha Chengtou Property Service Co., Ltd.*  

(長沙城投物業服務有限公司)

Executive Director and General Manager

Changsha Chengtou Asset Management Co., Ltd.*  

(長沙城投資產經營有限責任公司)

Executive Director

Changsha Urban Lighting Operation and Development 

Co., Ltd.* 

(長沙城市照明運營發展有限公司)

Executive Director

  

Mr. Xie has over 13 years’ experience in overall strategic planning and corporate operations, investment and financial 

decisions and financial management relating to property and business management industry.
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From September 2003 to October 2005, Mr. Xie served in Guangzhou Lantian Wanguo Commerce Co., Ltd.* (廣州藍田

萬國商業有限公司), a company principally engaged in commercial asset operations and property management business. 

From June 2006 to September 2006, Mr. Xie served in Beida Property Management Co., Ltd.* (廣州北達物業管理有限

公司), a company principally engaged in property management business. From April 2007 to March 2011, Mr. Xie served 

in Guangzhou Riyu Real Estate Agent Co., Ltd.* (廣州市日裕房地產置業有限公司), a company principally engaged in 

real estate management, commercial asset operation and property management business. From April 2011 to June 

2015, Mr. Xie successively served as the deputy general manager of Xiangyang Wanda Plaza Commercial Management 

Co., Ltd.* (襄陽萬達廣場商業管理有限公司) and general manager of Jiyuqiao Wanda Plaza in Wuhan Branch of Dalian 

Wanda Property Management Co., Ltd.* (大連萬達物業管理有限公司武漢分公司) (currently known as Wuhan Branch 

of Shenzhen Wanxiangmei Property Management Co., Ltd.* (深圳市萬象美物業管理有限公司武漢分公司)), companies 

principally engaged in commercial asset operations and property management matters, where he was primarily 

responsible for handling commercial asset operations and property management matters. From June 2015 to July 

2016, Mr. Xie served as the general manager of Hangzhou Xiasha Commercial Branch* (杭州下沙商業公司) of Shanghai 

Shangsheng Investment Management Consulting Co., Ltd.* (上海商盛投資管理諮詢有限公司). Shanghai Shangsheng 

Investment Management Consulting Co., Ltd. is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Powerlong Commercial 

Management Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9909), a 

company principally engaged in commercial and property management business, where he was primarily responsible 

for handling commercial asset operations and property management matters. From July 2016 to January 2017, Mr. 

Xie served as the general manager of Changsha branch company of Beijing Jiahua Liyuan Commercial Management 

Co., Ltd.* (北京嘉華利遠商業管理有限公司), a subsidiary of Huayuan Property Co., Ltd.* (華遠地產股份有限公司) and 

principally engaged in commercial and property management business, where he was primarily responsible for handling 

commercial asset operations and property management matters. From March 2017 to June 2017, Mr. Xie served as 

the general manager of commercial management department of Zhongshan Lihe Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (中山市利和置

業有限公司), a company principally engaged in real estate and property management business, where he was primarily 

responsible for handling commercial asset operations and property management matters.

Mr. Xie subsequently served as a general manager of Changsha Pilot Hengtong Commercial Management Co., Ltd.* (長

沙先導恆通商業管理有限公司) from July 2017 to February 2019. From November 2018 to March 2019, he also served as 

the executive director and general manager of Yanghu Wetland Development and Management Co., Ltd.* (洋湖濕地開發

管理有限公司), a subsidiary of CSUD Group.

Mr. Xie graduated from Hunan Public Security College* (湖南公安高等專科學校) in the PRC in December 2002, and 

obtained an MBA degree from Hong Kong Asian Business School (香港亞洲商學院) in Hong Kong in May 2012.

In September 2005, Mr. Xie obtained the national property management enterprise manager certificate (全國物業管

理企業經理崗位證書) from Personnel Education Department of the Ministry of Construction* (建設部人事教育司) and 

Housing and Real Estate Department of the Ministry of Construction* (建設部住宅與房地產業司). In December 2008, Mr. 

Xie obtained the property manager certificate (物業管理師證) from Occupational Skills Testing Authority of the Ministry 

of Labor and Social Security* (勞動和社會保障部職業技能鑒定中心). In December 2021, Mr. Xie was accredited as an 

intermediate political engineer (中級政工師) by Changsha Title Reform Leading Group* (長沙市職稱改革工作領導小組).
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Mr. Yang Xin (陽鑫), aged 41, has been an executive Director and the general manager of our Company since October 

2024 and is primarily responsible for the overall management, commercial operations and providing guidance for the 

overall development of our Group.

Mr. Yang, aged 40, obtained a bachelor degree in engineering in June 2006 and a master degree in engineering in June 

2016 from Central South University of Forestry and Technology* (中南林業科技大學). Mr. Yang has over 17 years of 

large-scale state-owned construction and project management experience, excels at operational management, has a 

broad vision and holistic approach as well as a proactive business mindset.

From July 2006 to December 2006, Mr. Yang served as a construction crew of Changsha Municipal Company* (長

沙市市政公司). From December 2006 to December 2010, Mr. Yang successively served as the site representative 

of the engineering department and a deputy director of the office of Changsha Municipal Engineering Construction 

Headquarters* (長沙市代建工程建設指揮部). From December 2010 to December 2014, Mr. Yang successively served 

as an office staff member, a deputy director, and the director of the general office of Changsha Urban Investment 

Infrastructure Construction Project Management Co., Ltd.* (長沙市城投基礎設施建設項目管理有限公司), which is 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSUDGCL. From December 2014 to March 2020, Mr. Yang successively served as 

the head of the engineering management department and the director of the office of Changsha Urban Construction 

Investment and Development Group Co., Ltd.* (長沙市城市建設投資開發集團有限公司) (“CUCID Group”), a wholly-

owned subsidiary of CSUDGCL. From October 2019 to March 2020, Mr. Yang also served as the head of the office of 

CSUDGCL. From March 2020 to July 2020, Mr. Yang served as the general manager of the emergency management 

department of CSUDGCL. From July 2020 to March 2022, Mr. Yang served as the general manager of Changsha Bridge 

and Tunnel Maintenance and Operation Co., Ltd.* (長沙市橋樑隧道養護運營有限公司), a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of CSUDGCL. From March 2022 to September 2024, Mr. Yang served as the general manager of the corporate 

management department of CSUDGCL. Mr. Yang currently hold part-time positions including the secretary general 

of Changsha Chengfa Research Institute of CSUDGCL* (長沙城發研究院), a director of CUCID Group, and the vice 

chairman of the board of Hunan Zhongche Zhixing Technology Co., Ltd.* (湖南中車智行科技有限公司).

Mr. Duan Wenming (段文明), aged 40, has been an executive Director of our Company since August 2021 and has 

been the Chief Financial Officer of our Company since September 2022. He is primarily responsible for the overall 

financial and cost management, tax planning and capital market-related matters of our Group.
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Mr. Duan successively served in multiple positions in the subsidiaries of CSUD Group, including an accountant and head 

of finance department of Changsha Pilot Yanghu Construction Investment Company Limited* (長沙先導洋湖建設投資

有限公司) from February 2010 to October 2013, a manager of finance department of Changsha Xiangjiang New City 

Investment Company Limited* (長沙湘江新城投資有限公司) from November 2013 to December 2016, the chief financial 

officer of Changsha Yueliangdao Cultural and Tourism New City Investment Company Limited* (長沙月亮島文旅遊新城

投資有限公司) from December 2016 to January 2019. Mr. Duan also served as the general manager assistant of finance 

management department of Pilot Investment since January 2019, previously the controlling shareholder of our Company. 

Mr. Duan successively served as a general manager assistant of asset management department and a deputy general 

manager of asset management department of CSUDGCL since March 2020 to September 2022, during which period 

Mr. Duan was responsible for the overall financial management and capital market matters of our Group.

Mr. Duan obtained a bachelor’s degree in management from Heilongjiang University of Science and Technology* (黑龍

江科技大學) (formerly known as Heilongjiang Institute of Science and Technology* (黑龍江科技學院)) in the PRC in June 

2007.

In April 2009, Mr. Duan obtained the qualification of certified public accountant (註冊會計師) from Ministry of Finance of 

the PRC (中華人民共和國財政部). In September 2023, Mr. Duan obtained the qualification of public valuer (資產評估師) 

from China Appraisal Society* (中國資產評估協會).

Mr. Wong Kwok Fu (王國賦), aged 51, has been an executive Director of our Company since November 2020 and has 

been the Secretary of the Board since July 2022 and is primarily responsible for formulation of business strategies and 

providing guidance for the overall development of our Group.

Mr. Wong successively served as a research assistant of City University of Hong Kong (香港城市大學) from November 

1998 to November 1999, the senior director for conservation of the Conservancy Association (長春社) from August 2000 

to June 2005, the deputy general manager of Starlight Optoelectronics Technology Co. (星磊光電科技有限公司) since 

June 2005, a vice president of USA NIVS International Investment Group Limited (美國納偉仕國際投資集團有限公司) 

from October 2008 to March 2012 and the partner of Silver Bear Capital (盛天資本) until June 2014.
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Mr. Wong then served as the general manager of the financial development department of Pilot Investment from October 

2014 to April 2020, previously the controlling shareholder of our Company. Mr. Wong subsequently served as a deputy 

general manager of strategic development department of CSUDGCL from March 2020 to July 2022, during which 

period Mr. Wong was responsible for the overall management and formulation of business strategies of our Group. 

He also served as a director of Hunan Pilot International Trading Company* (湖南先導國際貿易公司), a subsidiary of 

CSUD Group, from November 2020 to April 2021. From November 2020 to September 2022 and from March 2022 to 

September 2022, Mr. Wong successively served as a director of Changsha Pilot Industry Investment Co., Ltd.* (長沙先導

產業投資有限公司) and a director of Changsha Chengfa Energy Co., Ltd.* (長沙城發能源有限公司).

Mr. Wong obtained his bachelor’s degree in applied biology and his master of science degree from City University of 

Hong Kong (香港城市大學) in Hong Kong in November 1998 and November 2005, respectively.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yu Xiao (余效), aged 47, had been a Director of our Company from November 2020 and was re-designated as a 

non-executive Director since May 11, 2023. Mr. Yu is primarily responsible for formulation of business strategies and 

providing guidance for the overall development of our Group.

From December 2006 to July 2009, Mr. Yu worked at Hunan branch of Pan-China Certified Public Accountants Firm 

(Special General Partnership)* (天健會計師事務所(特殊普通合夥)湖南分所).

Mr. Yu successively served as an accountant of finance management department, a business manager of finance 

management department and the general manager assistant of finance management department of Pilot Investment 

from July 2009 to February 2015, the chief financial officer of Changsha Pilot Yanghu Construction Investment Company 

Limited* (長沙先導洋湖建設投資有限公司) from February 2015 to February 2019 and a deputy general manager of audit 

and legal department of Pilot Investment from February 2019 to April 2020, the deputy general manager of financial 

management department of CSUD Group since March 2020. Besides, Mr. Yu also served as a supervisor of Changsha 

Pilot Industry Investment Co., Ltd.* (長沙先導產業投資有限公司), Hunan Huaboyuan Investment and Development Co., 

Ltd.* (湖南花博園投資發展有限公司) and Hunan Urban Countryside Tourism Development Co., Ltd.* (湖南都市鄉村旅遊

發展有限公司) since November 2020, July 2023 and July 2023.
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Mr. Yu graduated with a major in finance (correspondence program) from Hunan University (湖南大學) in the PRC in July 

2012.

In January 2007, Mr. Yu obtained the certified public accountant certificate (註冊會計師) issued by the Ministry of Finance 

of the PRC (中華人民共和國財政部). In October 2008, Mr. Yu obtained the certificate of securities professional from the 

Securities Association of China (中國證券業協會證券從業資格證書).

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa (陳嘉麗), aged 51, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director effective 

from May 2023. She is mainly responsible for providing independent advice on the finance, internal control and risk 

management of our Group.

Ms. Chan is a professional accountant with over 25 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial 

management. Currently, Ms. Chan is the operating director of WA C&E Limited which specializing in providing 

professional accounting, company secretarial and business advisory services in Hong Kong. She also serves as the 

independent non-executive directors of Innovax Holdings Limited (創升控股有限公司) (stock code: 2680), Tycoon Group 

Holdings Limited (滿貫集團控股有限公司) (stock code: 3390) and Lepu ScienTech Medical Technology (Shanghai) 

Co., Ltd. (樂普心泰醫療科技(上海)股份有限公司) (stock code: 2291), companies all listed on the Main Board of the 

Stock Exchange. Ms. Chan worked in China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (中國糧油控股有限公司), a state-owned 

enterprise previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from November 2009 to December 2018 with the 

last position as a financial controller. Prior to joining China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, she worked as an accounting 

manager of The Kowloon Motor Bus Co. (1933) Ltd. (九龍巴士(一九三三)有限公司) (Stock Code: 0062), a company 

listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from August 2005 to February 2008 and worked in KPMG Hong Kong 

from July 1995 to August 2005 with the last position as a senior manager.

Ms. Chan obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic University (香港理工大學) in Hong 

Kong in October 1995.
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Ms. Chan has been a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 2006 and 

also a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since October 2006. She is also an associate 

member of The Chartered Governance Institute since September 2020 and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since 

January 2018.

Dr. Dai Xiaofeng (戴曉鳳), aged 64, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director effective from May 

2023. She is mainly responsible for providing independent advice on the operation and management of our Group.

Dr. Dai has been a professor of the School of Finance and Statistics of Hunan University* (湖南大學金融與統計學院) 

since 2001. Dr. Dai served as an independent non-executive director of Hunan Mengjie Home Textile Company Limited* 

(湖南夢潔家紡股份有限公司) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002397) from February 

2023 to May 2023, an independent non-executive director in the following listed companies: Hunan Huatian Great Hotel 

Co., Ltd.* (湖南華天大酒店股份有限公司) (currently known as Huatian Hotel Group Company Limited* (華天酒店集團股

份有限公司)) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 000428) from June 2008 to June 2014, 

Kingray New Materials Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (金瑞新材料科技股份有限公司) (a company listed on the 

Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 600390) (currently known as Minmetals Capital Company Limited* (五礦資本股

份有限公司)) from May 2014 to May 2017, Jinjian Rice Company Limited* (金健米業股份有限公司) (a company listed on 

the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 600127) from April 2014 to August 2020, BBK Commercial Chain Company 

Limited* (步步高商業連鎖股份有限公司) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 002251) from 

May 2016 to May 2022, Hunan Nanling Civilian Explosives Equipment Company Limited* (湖南南嶺民用爆破器材股份有

限公司) (a company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002096) from July 2018 to March 2023. Dr. Dai 

was also an independent non-executive director of the following non-listed companies: Hunan Trust Co., Ltd.* (湖南省信

託有限責任公司) (currently known as Hunan Caixin Trust Co., Ltd.* (湖南省財信信託有限責任公司)) from October 2016 

to October 2019 and Hunan Leiyang Rural Commercial Bank Company Limited* (湖南耒陽農村商業銀行股份有限公司) 

from August 2013 to June 2020.

Dr. Dai is currently serving as an independent non-executive director of the following listed companies: Yuan Longping 

Agricultural High-Tech Company Limited* (袁隆平農業高科技股份有限公司) (a company listed on Shenzhen Stock 

Exchange, stock code: 000998) since July 2020.
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Dr. Dai received her bachelor’s degree in finance from Hunan Finance and Economics College* (湖南財經學院) in the 

PRC in July 1983. She completed monetary banking program from Hunan Finance and Economics College* (湖南財經學

院) in the PRC in 1996. Dr. Dai obtained her doctorate degree in economics in Fudan University* (復旦大學) in the PRC in 

July 2001.

In September 2008, Dr. Dai obtained an independent director qualification certificate (獨立董事資格證) issued by 

Shanghai Stock Exchange (上海證券交易所). In July 2014, Dr. Dai obtained the training certificate for the Second 

Continuing Professional Training for Independent Directors of Listed Companies (第2期上市公司獨立董事後續培訓證) 

from Enterprise Training Center of Shanghai Stock Exchange* (上海證券交易所企業培訓中心).

Mr. Tse Chi Wai (謝志偉), aged 57, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director effective from May 

2023. He is mainly responsible for providing independent advice on the operation and management of our Group.

Mr. Tse joined Arthur Andersen & Co. and became a qualified accountant after his graduation. He left the firm as an audit 

manager in 1999. Mr. Tse had been an executive director, the company secretary and the chief financial officer of China 

Information Technology Development Limited (中國信息科技發展有限公司) from June 2010 to June 2019, a company 

listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8178) specializing in the development and implementation 

of IT related services in Mainland China. Mr. Tse was an executive director of Jihsun Financial Holding Company Limited 

(日盛金融控股股份有限公司) for ten years until September 2021, a Taiwan listed company that operates bank, securities 

brokerage and other financial services in Taiwan. Currently, Mr. Tse serves as an independent non-executive director of 

China Environmental Technology Holdings Limited (中國環保科技控股有限公司) (Stock Code: 0646) specializing in the 

provision of waste management services in Mainland China.

Mr. Tse graduated from the University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in 1989 with a bachelor degree in social sciences 

studies.

Mr. Tse has extensive experiences in handling audit related matters, provision of financial advisories and compliance 

matters as well as market developments. He is member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 

an associate member of the Institute of Charted Accountants in England and Wales.
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Confirmation of Independence from Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her 

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive 

Directors to be independent.

SUPERVISORS

Our supervisory committee (the “Supervisory Committee”) currently consists of three Supervisors, among which one of 

them is the chairperson to the Supervisory Committee.

Mr. Huang Guohui (黃國輝), aged 47, has served as the chairperson of our Supervisory Committee and a 

representative of the shareholders since December 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising the performance of 

the Directors and senior management of our Company. Mr. Huang has also served as a general manager, an executive 

director and the legal representative of Parking Company and general manager of Chengfa Property since September 

2022.

From December 2004 to November 2009, Mr. Huang served as a marketing director of Hunan Shangge Property Co., 

Ltd.* (湖南尚格置業有限公司), a company principally engaged in real estate business, where he was primarily responsible 

for handling marketing matters. From January 2012 to February 2014, Mr. Huang served as a general manager of Hunan 

Shangge Property Co., Ltd.* (湖南尚格置業有限公司), a company principally engaged in real estate business, where 

he was primarily responsible for general management. From March 2014 to November 2015, Mr. Huang served as the 

chairman at Changsha branch of Jinbi Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (金碧物業有限公司), a company principally engaged in 

property management business, where he was primarily responsible for management and decision-making matter.

Mr. Huang served successively as a general manager and a director of our Company from November 2015 to July 2022. 

Mr. Huang has served as the chairman and the legal representative of Huaihua Hecheng District Chengtou Property 

Management Co., Ltd.* (懷化市鶴城區城投物業管理有限公司), a joint venture of our Company, from September 2018 to 

April 2024. Mr. Huang has served as the chairman and the legal representative of Guiyang Hongcheng since December 

2023.

Mr. Huang obtained his bachelor’s degree of management from Hunan Normal University* (湖南師範大學) in the PRC in 

June 2000.

In February 2003, Mr. Huang obtained the qualification of certified land valuer (註冊土地估價師) issued by the Ministry of 

Land and Resources of the PRC (中華人民共和國國土資源部). In December 2012, Mr. Huang obtained the qualification 

of senior economist (高級經濟師) issued by the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC (中華人民

共和國人力資源和社會保障部). In May 2013, Mr. Huang obtained the property manager certificate (物業管理師證) from 

Human Resources and Social Security Department of Hunan Province* (湖南省人力資源和社會保障廳).
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Ms. Peng Juanjuan (彭娟鵑), aged 44, has served as a Supervisor of our Company and a representative of the 

shareholders since December 2022. She is primarily responsible for supervising the performance of the Directors and 

senior management of our Company.

From June 2010 to April 2013, Ms. Peng served as a lawyer at Beijing Yingke Law Firm* (北京市盈科律師事務所), 

where she was primarily responsible for providing legal services in investment and financing matters. From April 2013 to 

April 2014, Ms. Peng served in Hunan Hongde Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (湖南省弘德投資管理有限公司), a 

company principally engaged in investment business, where she was primarily responsible for handling risk control and 

compliance matters.

From April 2014 to April 2021, Ms. Peng has successively served as a supervisor of risk control, a deputy manager and 

a manager in the risk control department in Changsha Pilot Venture Capital Co., Ltd.* (長沙先導創業投資有限公司) 

(currently known as Changsha Pilot Industry Investment Company Limited* (長沙先導產業投資有限公司)) where she was 

primarily responsible for investment risk management and compliance management matters and the assistant of general 

manager of the corporate management department of CSUDGCL since April 2021, where she was primarily responsible 

for investment management matters. Ms. Peng has served as a director of Hunan Pilot International Trade Co., Ltd.* (湖

南先導國際貿易有限公司) since April 2021 and she has also served as a supervisor of Changsha Chengfa Energy Co., 

Ltd.* (長沙城發能源有限公司), Hunan Pilot Energy Co., Ltd.* (湖南先導能源有限公司), Changsha Pilot Urban Resources 

Investment Co., Ltd. (長沙先導城市能源投資有限公司) since March 2022 and Chengfa Smart Travel Company since 

June 2023.

Ms. Peng graduated from Central South University (中南大學) in the PRC in November 2004 and obtained her master’s 

degree in law from Hunan University (湖南大學) in the PRC in June 2010.

In February 2009, Ms. Peng obtained the qualification certificate for legal professions (法律職業資格證書) accredited by 

the Ministry of Justice of the PRC (中華人民共和國司法部).

Ms. Xiao Mingxi (肖名希), aged 42, has served as a Supervisor of our Company and a representative of the employees 

of our company since December 2022. She is primarily responsible for supervising the performance of the Directors and 

senior management of our Company.

From December 2005 to December 2009, Ms. Xiao successively served in Hunan Kaiyuan Limited Liability Accountants 

Firm* (湖南開元有限責任會計師事務所) and Kaiyuan Xinde Accountants Firm Co., Ltd.* (開元信德會計師事務所有限公

司). From January 2010 to July 2015, Ms. Xiao served as a senior auditor and project manager of Hunan branch of Pan-

China Certified Public Accountants (Special General Partnership)* (天健會計師事務所(特殊普通合夥)湖南分所).
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Ms. Xiao has successively served as an internal audit commissioner, the supervisor of audit and supervision department 

and business manager from July 2015 to July 2020 in Pilot Investment before joining our Company in July 2020 as the 

deputy manager of the risk control and contract department. Ms. Xiao also served as a supervisor of our Company from 

July 2018 to November 2020.

Ms. Xiao obtained her bachelor’s degree in management from Hunan Business School* (湖南商學院) in the PRC in June 

2005.

In December 2008, Ms. Xiao obtained the qualification of accountant (會計師資格證) jointly issued by the Ministry of 

Finance of the PRC (中華人民共和國財政部) and the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC (中華

人民共和國人力資源和社會保障部). In April 2019, Mr. Xiao obtained the certified public accountant certificate (註冊會計

師資格證) issued by the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (中國註冊會計師協會).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management and operations of our Group. For the biographical 

details of Mr. Yang Xin, Mr. Duan Wenming and Mr. Wong Kwok Fu, please see the paragraph headed “Directors – 

Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Shen Zhouyuan (沈洲沅), aged 50, has served as a deputy general manager of our Company since December 

2017 and served as the chairman of Pingxiang Huiheng Pilot Property Management Co., Ltd.* (萍鄉市匯恆先導物業管理

有限公司) since May 2019.

From July 2003 to August 2011, Mr. Shen served successively as the manager of quality management department, the 

project manager of New Youth Square* (新青年廣場), and the general manager of a branch company of Zhejiang New 

South-North Property Management Group Co., Ltd.* (浙江新南北物業管理集團有限公司) (formerly known as Zhejiang 

New South-North Property Management Co., Ltd.* (浙江新南北物業有限公司)), where he was primarily responsible 

for handling property management matters. From August 2011 to March 2014, Mr. Shen served as a manager of 

Guangdong Huaxin Service Co., Ltd.* (廣東華信服務集團), where he was primarily responsible for handling property 

management matters.

From July 2015 to October 2015, Mr. Shen served as a property project director in Changsha Comprehensive 

Transportation Hub Construction Investment Company Limited* (長沙綜合交通樞紐建設投資有限公司). From October 

2015 to December 2017, Mr. Shen also served as an assistant to general manager of our Company.

Mr. Shen obtained his bachelor’s degree in management from Shanghai Cosmos College* (上海大同學院) in the PRC 

in July 1998. Mr. Shen obtained undergraduate diploma (online education) in civil engineering from Northwestern 

Polytechnic University* (西北工業大學) in the PRC in January 2023.
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In April 2004, Mr. Shen obtained the national property management enterprise manager certificate (全國物業管理企

業經理崗位證書) from the Personnel Education Department of the Ministry of Construction* (建設部人事教育司) and 

the Housing and Real Estate Department of the Ministry of Construction* (建設部住宅與房地產業司). In August 2016, 

Mr. Shen obtained the qualification of top level economic engineer (高級經濟師) issued by the National Vocational 

Qualification Examination Certification Center* (全國職業資格考試認證中心). In May 2017, Mr. Shen obtained the 

qualification of national project managers in sanitation operations (全國環衛作業項目經理資格) issued by Housing and 

Urban-Rural Development Job Training Center* (住房和城鄉建設崗位培訓中心). In December 2021, Mr. Shen was 

accredited as engineer for power systems and automation from the Human Resources and Social Security Department 

of Hunan Province* (湖南省人力資源和社會保障廳).

Mr. Liu Aiguo (劉愛國), aged 41, has served as a deputy general manager of our Company since September 2022. 

From March 2018 to September 2022, Mr. Liu served as a deputy general manager of Changsha Pilot Hengtong 

Commercial Management Co., Ltd.* (長沙先導恆通商業管理有限公司) (currently known as Chengfa Commercial) and 

was promoted to general manager since September 2022.

From October 2017 to March 2018, Mr. Liu served as the deputy general manager in Changsha Pilot Yinxiang Culture 

Media Company Limited* (長沙先導銀象文化傳媒有限公司).

Mr. Liu completed an undergraduate program from Guilin Air Force Academy of the Chinese People’s Liberation Army (中

國人民解放軍桂林空軍學院)* in the PRC in June 2009, majoring in economic management engineering.

Mr. Liu Wei (劉溈), aged 40, has served as a deputy general manager of our Company since September 2022. From 

April 2021 to September 2022, Mr. Liu has successively served as the general manager assistant of Landscaping 

Company and was promoted to executive director, general manager and the legal representative since September 2022.

From December 2014 to August 2020, Mr. Liu served as an engineering supervisor of engineering and construction 

department, a deputy manager, a manager of the engineering management department and a director of chief engineer’s 

office in Changsha Chengtou International Convention and Exhibition Center Investment and Development Company 

Limited* (長沙城投國際會展中心投資開發有限責任公司). Mr. Liu also served as the assistant general manager of the 

construction management department of CSUDGCL from August 2020 to April 2021.

Mr. Liu obtained both his bachelor’s degree in engineering and his master’s degree in engineering from Hunan University 

(湖南大學) in the PRC in June 2006 and 2009, respectively.

In December 2012 and December 2021, Mr. Liu obtained the qualification of intermediate engineer (中級工程師資格) and 

the qualification of senior engineer (高級工程師資格) issued by the Human Resources and Social Security Department of 

Hunan Province* (湖南省人力資源和社會保障廳).
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Mr. Huang Jun (黃俊), aged 41, was appointed as the manager of the general management department of our 

Company in January 2018 and was further appointed as an assistant to the general manager of our Company in June 

2024. Meanwhile, Ms. Fu Yan had ceased to serve as an assistant to the general manager and is no longer a senior 

management of our Company since she had retired from the Company in June 2024.

From July 2006 to July 2008, Mr. Huang served as an office staff at the Health Bureau of Tianxin District, Changsha 

(長沙市天心區衛生局). From July 2008 to October 2013, he served as the office director at the Population and Family 

Planning Bureau of Tianxin District, Changsha* (長沙市天心區人口和計劃生育局).

From October 2013 to December 2015, Mr. Huang served as a comprehensive administration clerk in the general 

administration department of Changsha Xiangjiang New Town Investment Co., Ltd.* (長沙湘江新城投資有限公司). From 

January 2016 to September 2022, he successively served as a comprehensive administration clerk, a deputy manager 

and the manager of the general administration department in our Company. Since September 2022, he also has been 

serving as an assistant to general manager at Chengfa Property.

Mr. Huang obtained his bachelor of laws degree from Changsha University of Science and Technology* (長沙理工大學) 

in the PRC in June 2006.

Mr. Xie Ju (謝炬), aged 44, was appointed as a project director of our Company in August 2019. Mr. Xie was further 

appointed as an assistant to the general manager of our Company and a deputy general manager of Chengfa Property in 

September 2022.

From August 2010 to December 2015, Mr. Xie served as a deputy manager of the department of station services in 

Changsha Comprehensive Transportation Hub Construction Investment Co., Ltd.* (長沙綜合交通樞紐建設投資有限

公司). From December 2015 to August 2019, Mr. Xie successively served as a deputy project director of the project 

management center, a project director of the Changsha West Center Property Management Service Project* (長沙西中

心物業管理服務項目) and a project director of our Company. Mr. Xie served as the chairman of Wangcheng Property 

Management since December 2018.

Mr. Xie graduated from Hunan Taxation College* (湖南稅務高等專科學校) (currently known as the National Tax Institute 

of State Taxation Administration Changsha* (國家稅務總局稅務幹部學院(長沙)*) in the PRC in June 2002, majoring in 

property management. In January 2015, Mr. Xie graduated from Xidian University (西安電子科技大學) with a major in 

business administration through online education.

In September 2004, Mr. Xie obtained the national property management enterprise manager certificate (全國物業管理企

業經理崗位證書) from Personnel Education Department of the Ministry of Construction* (建設部人事教育司) and Housing 

and Real Estate Department of the Ministry of Construction* (建設部住宅與房地產業司). In March 2010, Mr. Xie obtained 

the qualification of economist (經濟師) issued by Shenzhen Examinations Authority* (深圳市考試院). In December 

2013, Mr. Xie obtained the property manager certificate (物業管理師證) from Human Resources and Social Security 

Department of Hunan Province* (湖南省人力資源和社會保障廳).
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Mr. Xiong Hao (熊浩), aged 38, was appointed as an assistant to the general manager of our Company in April 2021. 

Mr. Xiong served as the general manager of the Lighting Company in March 2022.

From June 2009 to July 2010, Mr. Xiong successively served as a water and electricity supervisor of Yanglin Service 

Area* (楊林服務區), a water professional supervising engineer and a water and electricity professional supervising 

engineer of Hengyan management office in the sixth supervision office of Hengyang-Yanling expressway in Hunan 

Province.

From July 2010 to September 2014, Mr. Xiong served as a site representative in the engineering department of 

Changsha Rail Transit Group Supporting Project Construction Co., Ltd.* (長沙市軌道交通集團配套項目建設有限公

司), a company mainly engaged in civil engineering and construction business. From September 2014 to May 2021, Mr. 

Xiong successively served as a deputy manager and manager of engineering management department in Changsha 

Changdong Investment Development Co., Ltd.* (長沙市長東投資發展有限公司).

Mr. Xiong obtained his bachelor’s degree in engineering from University of South China* (南華大學) in the PRC in July 

2009.

In August 2015, Mr. Xiong obtained the qualification of engineer issued by Human Resources and Social Security 

Department of Hunan Province* (湖南省人力資源與社會保障廳). In December 2020, Mr. Xiong obtained the qualification 

of senior engineer issued by Human Resources and Social Security Department of Hunan Province* (湖南省人力資源與

社會保障廳).

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wong Kwok Fu (王國賦), aged 51, was appointed as our joint company secretary in September 2023. For details 

of his biography, see the paragraphs headed “Directors – Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Lam Kang Chi (林庚墀), aged 45, was appointed as our joint company secretary in September 2023. Mr. Lam 

is an assistant manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (方圓企業服務集團(香港)有限公司). 

He holds a bachelor degree in business management from University of Bradford and a master degree in corporate 

governance from the Hong Kong Metropolitan University (香港都會大學) in Hong Kong, and is a fellow member of the 

Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute since April 2023.
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The Board hereby presents this corporate governance report for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and believes that good corporate 

governance is essential to the Company’s sustainable development and healthy business growth. We safeguard the 

interests of the Shareholders and enhance corporate value through robust corporate governance.

The Company’s general meeting, the Supervisory Committee, the Board, and each special committee under the Board 

have established a clear governance structure under the relevant laws, the articles of association of the Company (the 

“Articles of Association”), and their respective working rules. The Board and the three special committees under the 

Board perform their respective duties and work in collaboration and under adequate supervision to continuously improve 

the Company’s corporate governance and form an excellent corporate governance structure. The Company ensures the 

regular operation under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing 

Rules”) through this governance structure.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code Provision”) in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG 

Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its code of corporate governance. During the period from May 

17, 2024 (the “Listing Date”) and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has complied with all the principles 

and applicable code provisions under the CG Code.

In addition, the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the senior management and the Board, 

which comprises experienced and high-caliber individuals. The Board currently consists of four executive Directors, one 

non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. Therefore, we consider that the Board has a fairly 

strong independence element in its composition.

The Directors will review the corporate governance policies and compliance with the CG Code and other applicable legal 

and regulatory requirements so as to maintain a high standard of corporate governance of the Company each financial 

year and apply the “comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report which is included in this annual 

report.
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CORPORATE CLUTURE AND STRATEGIES

A healthy corporate culture is pivotal for the Group to achieve its vision and strategies. It is the Board’s role to foster 

a corporate culture with the following core principles and to ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business 

strategies are aligned to it. As a Group with diversified businesses, we are aware of the importance of our stakeholders 

to the Board and the Group as a whole, and are committed to providing high quality and reliable products and services, 

and creating value for stakeholders through sustainable growth and continuous development.

We are a state-owned urban service and operation provider with business operations primarily based in Changsha. 

We provide a wide spectrum of services to our customers, forming a cohesive business layout rooted in urban area. 

The services we provide can be divided into three categories depending on service characteristics and industry 

standards: (i) property management services, including different property management services to public properties, 

commercial properties, and residential properties, and value-added services; (ii) urban services, including landscaping 

and engineering, lighting system operation, parking lot operation, and municipal sanitation services; and (iii) commercial 

operation services. We have grown into an urban service and operation provider leveraging our accumulated experiences 

in the property management service sector over years with a competitive market position. We have always focused on 

strategic growth in Hunan Province, especially in Changsha, one of China’s most vibrant cities, and we will continue to do 

so. We believe that our strategic focus on Hunan Province, particularly in Changsha, and our established market position 

for the provision of property management services and urban services in the same region will continue to support the 

expansion of our business scale and give us an advantage over competitors in China’s market for these services.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 

Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors 

and Supervisors of the Company.

The Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors and Supervisors and they have confirmed that they had 

complied with the Model Code for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, with four executive Directors, one non-executive Director, and three 

independent non-executive Directors. During the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this report, the 

details of the composition of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xie Yi (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Yang Xin (General Manager) (appointed with effect from October 30, 2024)

Mr. Duan Wenming (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Wong Kwok Fu (Secretary of the Board)

Mr. Yan Yongxiang (resigned with effect from October 9, 2024)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yu Xiao

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa

Dr. Dai Xiaofeng

Mr. Tse Chi Wai

Personal particulars of Directors are set out in the section headed “V. Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” 

of this annual report. No relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) exists 

between any member of the Board and other Directors, Supervisors, and senior management of the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND GENERAL MANAGER

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and 

should not be performed by the same individual. The Company supports the division of responsibilities between the 

chairman and the general manager to ensure a balance of authority and responsibility and to maintain a balanced 

judgment view. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Mr. Xie Yi served as Chairman; Mr. Yan Yongxiang served 

as general manager of the Company for the period from January 1, 2024 to October 9, 2024, and Mr. Yang Xin served 

as general manager of the Company for the period from October 9, 2024 to December 31, 2024. The Chairman is 

responsible for presiding over the work of the Board, formulating the Group’s development strategies, setting the 

overall business objectives of the Company, etc. The general manager shall be accountable to the Board of Directors, 

responsible for implementing the development strategies and operational management of the Group, and ensuring the 

corporate governance and process operation of the Company goes well.



39HOLLWIN URBAN OPERATION SERVICE GROUP CO., LTD

VI. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE ROLE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors shall be accountable to the general meeting and responsible for the Group’s governance, 

establishing the Group’s business and management strategies and direction, and supervising and controlling operational 

and financial performance to maximize long-term Shareholder value. The duties of Board of Directors include but not 

limited to convene a general meeting and report its work to such meeting; implement the resolutions of a general 

meeting; decide on the operation plans and investment schemes of the Company and formulate the development 

strategies of the Company; prepare the annual financial budget plan and final account plan of the Company; prepare 

the profit distribution plan and the loss recovery plan of the Company; decide on the establishment of the internal 

organizations of the Company; establish a basic management system of the Company; appoint or remove the senior 

management and decide on their remunerations; listen to the work report of the general manager and examine such 

work; and exercise other duties and powers specified in relevant laws, regulations, and Articles of Association. Matters 

relating to the daily operations and management of the Group shall be handled by the management authorized by 

the Board. The Board provides clear guidelines on the management authority of the management team and what the 

management team should report, and regularly reviews the authorized functions, rights and tasks to ensure that they 

remain applicable.

BOARD AUTHORIZATION

The management consisting of executive Directors and senior management is authorized to implement the strategies and 

guidelines approved by the Board from time to time and is responsible for the day-to-day management and operations of 

the Group. The executive Directors and senior management meet regularly to review the performance of the Company’s 

overall business, coordinate overall resources, and make financial and operating decisions. The Board also gives clear 

instructions on its management powers (including circumstances where the management should report to it) and will 

regularly review the authorization arrangements to ensure that they are suitable for the needs of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company is committed to establishing an effective Board with members who have the appropriate competencies for 

the scale, complexity and strategic positioning of our business. In view of this, the independent non-executive Directors 

play an essential role in the Board through their independent professional judgment, and their views play an important 

role in the decisions of the Board.

Independent non-executive Directors have extensive experience in diverse fields and possess the requisite upright 

character, integrity and business insight for the proper discharge of their duties as independent non-executive Directors. 

In pursuit of the Group’s objectives and business endeavors, by offering independent and constructive advice, they 

provide valuable contributions and insights to the Board and instill integrity into every aspect of the Group’s business 

which is also aligned to our values. Their wealth of knowledge, experience, skills and expertise are crucial to the Board’s 

decisions. They have given the Board and the special committees under the Board on which they serve the benefit of 

their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications through active participation.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with the requirements of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules (which 

specified that an issuer must appoint independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the board), 

and the requirements of Rules 3.10 (1) and 3.10 (2) of the Listing Rules (which specify that every Board of Directors shall 

include at least three independent non-executive Directors, and at least one of the independent non-executive directors 

must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise).

INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company believes that the independence of the Board is essential to good corporate governance and the 

effectiveness of the Board. The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that the independent views of any Director 

can be communicated to the Board to enhance the objectivity and effectiveness of decision-making.

The Board has a strong element of independence, providing independent and objective oversight on strategic and 

performance issues. The Board currently consists of independent non-executive Directors that account for more 

than one-third of the Board, and the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the remuneration and evaluation 

committee of the Company (the “Remuneration and Evaluation Committee”) are both chaired by independent non-

executive Directors.

The Company has received annual written confirmation from each independent non-executive Director in respect of his 

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board and the Nomination Committee have assessed 

the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors and considered them to be independent persons as 

defined in the Listing Rules. In addition, up to the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any event that 

would impair the independence of any independent non-executive Director.

The Directors are required to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in proposals or transactions considered at 

the Board meetings and abstain from voting, if applicable. All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, 

may obtain external independent professional advice if deemed necessary. Independent non-executive Directors have 

demonstrated professional competence and commitment and have devoted sufficient time to the perform their duties in 

the Board. The Company has also established channels through formal and informal means whereby independent non-

executive Directors can express their views publicly and, if required, confidentially.

The Company has reviewed the implementation of the mechanism relating to the independence of the Board and 

considers it to be effective during the Reporting Period.

THE APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

The Code Provision B.2 of the CG Code provides that all directors shall be subject to re-election at regular intervals; 

Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code provides that every director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be 

subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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The term of office of each Director (including non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors) shall be 

three years or until the expiration of the term of the first session of the Board of Directors. A Director shall continue to 

perform his duties in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, and Articles of Association 

until a duly re-elected Director takes office, if re-election is not conducted in a timely manner upon the expiry of his term 

of office. Their re-election shall be subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association.

During the Reporting Period, the Company appointed a new Director, namely Mr. Yang Xin, on October 30, 2024. 

Mr. Yang Xin had obtained legal advice as required under Article 3.09D of the Listing Rules on October 11, 2024, and 

confirmed that he understood his obligations as a Director of the Company.

NOMINATION POLICY

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) adopts a variety of methods to review 

the qualification of candidates for Directors, including recommendations from Board members, the management and 

professional intermediaries. In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider Director candidates appropriately 

submitted by Shareholders. The evaluation of the Nomination Committee on Director candidates may include, but is 

not limited to, review of resumes and work experience, personal interviews, verification of professional and personal 

recommendation letters, and performing background checks. The Nomination Committee will evaluate candidates 

based on the Company’s business model and specific needs with reference to the following factors, including but not 

limited to the provisions of the Articles of Association, skills, experience and expertise, diversity, commitment, status, 

and independence. The Board will consider the recommendations of the Nomination Committee and be responsible for 

designating candidates for Directors to be elected by Shareholders at the Company’s general meeting, or appointing 

suitable candidates to serve as Directors to fill Board vacancies or as supplements to Board members, and to comply 

with the Articles of Association. All Director appointments should be confirmed through a letter of appointment and/or 

service contract, which should state the main terms and conditions of Director appointment.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the appointment of a Director in accordance with the 

following procedures and process:

(i)	 the Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable 

candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations from third-party agency firm 

and proposals from shareholders of the Company with due consideration given to the Criteria;

(ii)	 the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the 

candidates, such as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party reference checks;
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(iii)	 the proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal information for the Nomination 

Committee’s consideration. The Nomination Committee may request the candidate (s) to provide additional 

information and documents, if considered necessary;

(iv)	 upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by 

way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board for appointment;

(v)	 the Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration and 

Evaluation Committee for consideration of remuneration package of such selected candidate;

(vi)	 the Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed 

appointment, and where a non-executive Director is considered, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee will 

make the recommendation to the Board on the proposed remuneration package;

(vii)	 the Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be interviewed by the members of the Board who are not 

members of the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as the 

case may be; and

(viii) 	 all appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director 

(or any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as 

the case may be) to be filed with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong and updating the Register of Directors of 

the Company. The Director shall consent to the public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or the 

relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their appointment as a Director.

The Nomination Committee will assess, select and recommend candidate (s) for directorships to the Board by giving due 

consideration to criteria including but not limited to:

(i)	 Reputation for character and integrity;

(ii)	 Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in which the Company’s business is involved and other 

professional qualifications;

(iii)	 Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available time and relevant interest;

(iv)	 Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional 

experience, qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service (the “Board Diversity Policy”);

(v)	 Contribution that the candidate (s) can potentially bring to the Board; and

(vi)	 Plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board.



43HOLLWIN URBAN OPERATION SERVICE GROUP CO., LTD

VI. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Nomination Committee and the Board will regularly review the Director nomination policy of the Company (the 

“Director Nomination Policy”) to ensure its effectiveness.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The Board Diversity Policy provides that the Company should 

endeavor to ensure that the Board members have the appropriate balance from the perspectives of skills, experience and 

diversity to enhance the quality of their performance. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company has designed 

the composition of the Board in such a way that the diversity of Board members has been considered from various 

perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and educational background, professional 

experience and qualifications, skills, knowledge, length of service, and any other factors that the Board may consider 

relevant and applicable from time to time. High emphasis is placed on ensuring a balanced composition of skills and 

experience at the Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights and experience to enable the Board to 

effectively discharge its responsibilities, support good decision-making on the Group’s core business and strategy and 

succession planning and development of the Board. For achieving an optimal Board, additional measurable objectives 

and specific diversity targets may be set and reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness. All Board 

appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to 

the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The selection of Director candidates will be made in accordance with the Director Nomination Policy, taking into account 

the Board Diversity Policy. The final decision will be based on the strengths of the candidates and contributions they 

can make to the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and the needs of the Board without 

focusing on a single dimension of diversity.

The Board will take the opportunity to gradually increase the proportion of female directors during the identification and 

election of suitable directors. The Board will ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity of Board members, 

taking into account stakeholder expectations and international and local recommended best practices, with the ultimate 

goal of moving the Board towards gender parity. The Board also expects an appropriate proportion of directors with 

direct experience in the Group’s core markets that reflect the Group’s strategy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three special committees under the Board, namely the Audit Committee, the 

Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and the Nomination Committee. The special committees of the Board of 

Directors clearly stipulate their functions and powers in specific written terms. The working rules of each of the special 

committees of the Board have been published on the website of the Company (www.hollwingroup.com) and the website 

of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (www. hkexnews. hk).
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, namely Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa (independent non-executive 

Director), Mr. Yu Xiao (non-executive Director) and Mr. Tse Chi Wai (independent non-executive Director). Ms. Chan Ka 

Lai Vanessa serves as the chairperson of the Audit Committee. She has appropriate accounting and related financial 

management expertise, which complies with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include but not limited to:

(i)	 to review the work scope and experience of the internal audit department and the external auditing firm, propose 

to engage or replace the external auditing firm, evaluate the works of the external auditing firm, approve the 

remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditing firm, and advise the board of directors on matters 

such as the appointment and remuneration of the external auditing firm;

(ii)	 to review and monitor the independence and objectiveness of the external auditing firm and the effectiveness of 

its audit procedures in accordance with applicable standards; the committee shall discuss with the auditors the 

nature, scope, approach and reporting responsibilities of the audit works before the commencement of the audit 

works;

(iii)	 to supervise the establishment, improvement and implementation of the Company’s internal audit systems;

(iv)	 to facilitate communications and coordination between the internal audit department and the external auditing firm 

in respect of major issues;

(v)	 to examine the truthfulness, completeness and accuracy of financial statements, annual reports and accounts, 

half-year reports and quarterly reports (if any) of the Company, and review important opinions regarding financial 

reporting in such statements and reports. Special attention should be paid to the possibilities of any frauds, 

malpractices and major misstatements in relation to those financial statements and reports. For submission of 

those statements and reports to the board of directors, the committee shall conduct review with a special focus on 

the following matters: any changes in accounting policies and practices; areas involving major judgment; significant 

adjustments resulting from audit; the going concern assumption of the Company and any qualified opinions; 

compliance with accounting standards; compliance with the listing rules of the places where the shares of the 

Company are listed and other legal requirements in relation to financial reporting; and

(vi)	 other matters as stipulated in the Articles of Association, authorized by the Board or required by relevant laws and 

regulations.

The Audit Committee has access to and maintains an independent communication with the external auditor and the 

management to ensure effective information exchange on all relevant financial accounting matters. None of the members 

of the Audit Committee is a partner of the former or existing auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee has adopted 

the principles set out in the CG Code. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee held four meetings 

in total and studied and reviewed the proposals on the “Proposed Special Dividend”, “Interim Results Announcement for 

the Six Months Ended June 30, 2024” and “2024 Interim Report” and “Revision of Annual Caps under Entrusted Parking 

Lot Operation Framework Agreement” and recommended them to the Board of Directors for approval.
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The Company Secretary prepared minutes for each meeting, which were signed by the members for confirmation after 

the meeting. The minutes of the meeting are then archived and retained in accordance with the applicable regulations.

Remuneration and Evaluation Committee

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee currently comprises three Directors, namely, Dr. Dai Xiaofeng (independent 

non-executive Director), Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Yang Xin (executive 

Director). Dr. Dai Xiaofeng serves as the chairperson of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee include but not limited to:

(i)	 to formulate and review the assessment method and remuneration plans or proposals of the Directors of the 

Company based on their respective scope, responsibilities, significance and remuneration levels of similar positions 

in other related corporates, evaluate the performance and behaviors of the Directors, and report to the Board of 

Directors and the general meeting for approval;

(ii)	 to formulate and review the assessment method and remuneration plans or proposals of the senior management 

of the Company based on their respective scope, responsibilities, significance and remuneration levels of similar 

positions in other related corporates, evaluate the performance and behaviors of the senior management and 

report to the Board of Directors for approval, and such remuneration plans or proposals shall primarily include but 

not limited to performance appraisal criteria, procedures and assessment system, and the main plan and system 

for rewards and punishments;

(iii)	 to establish specific remuneration packages for all executive Directors and senior management of the Company, 

including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments (including any compensation payable for loss 

or termination of their office or appointment);

(iv)	 to make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding remuneration of non-executive Directors;

(v)	 to review and approve the remuneration proposals for the management based on corporate policies and objectives 

set by the Board of Directors;

(vi)	 to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities, and employment criteria 

of other positions of the Group;

(vii)	 to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and senior management in connection 

with loss or termination of their office or appointment, to ensure the compensation is determined in accordance 

with relevant contractual terms, and is otherwise fair and reasonable and will not create excessive burden to the 

Company; and

(viii)	 other matters as authorized by the Board or required by relevant laws and regulations.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee held one meeting, which 

studied and reviewed proposals such as the 2023 total payroll settlement of our Company and its subsidiaries, and 

recommended them to the Board for approval.

The Remuneration and Evaluation Committee prepared minutes for the meeting, which were signed by the members 

for confirmation after the meeting. The minutes of the meeting are then archived and retained in accordance with the 

applicable regulations.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently three Directors, namely, Mr. Xie Yi (executive Director), Dr. Dai Xiaofeng (independent 

non-executive Director) and Mr. Tse Chi Wai (independent non-executive Director). Mr. Xie Yi serves as the chairperson 

of the Nomination Committee.

The primarily duties of the Nomination Committee include but not limited to:

(i)	 to review and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on the size, structure and composition (including 

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board of Directors, with reference to the operations, assets scale and 

equity structure of the Company, at least once annually and make recommendations to the Board of Directors 

on any proposed changes concerning the Directors in line with the implementation of the Company’s corporate 

strategy;

(ii)	 to study on the selection criteria and procedures of the Directors and the senior management and to make 

recommendations to the Board of Directors;

(iii)	 to search extensively for qualified candidates of directors and senior management, and nominate such candidates 

to serve as Directors and senior management;

(iv)	 to review and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on the candidates of Directors and senior 

management;

(v)	 to receive and organize proposals regarding the nomination of Directors and senior management put forward by 

the Board of Directors and the shareholders who individually or jointly hold 3% or more of the total outstanding 

voting shares of the Company; and the proposals regarding the nomination of independent Directors put forward 

by the shareholders who individually or jointly hold 3% or more of the total outstanding voting shares of the 

Company; and

(vi)	 other matters as authorized by the Board or required by relevant laws and regulations.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Nomination Committee had one meeting to study and review the proposals 

of “Appointment of Executive Director and Appointment of the General Manager”, and recommended them to the Board 

for approval.

The Nomination Committee also reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, review the Director 

Nomination Policy and assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors, Board Diversity Policy, etc.

The Nomination Committee prepared minutes for the meeting, which were signed by the members for confirmation after 

the meeting. The minutes of the meeting are then archived and retained in accordance with the applicable regulations.

GENERAL MEETINGS, BOARD AND DIRECTORS AND THE BOARD COMMITTEES’ 
MEETINGS

The general meeting is the highest authority of the Company. It provides an opportunity for direct communication and 

the establishment of a sound relationship between the Shareholders and the Board and senior management of the 

Company. The Company attaches great importance to the general meeting. For the year ended December 31, 2024, 

the Company held a total of four general meetings, including one annual general meeting and three extraordinary general 

meetings, namely the 2023 AGM of the Company held on June 28, 2024, the 2024 extraordinary general meetings of 

the Company held on August 9, 2024, September 27, 2024 and October 30, 2024, respectively. The convening, holding 

and voting procedures for each general meeting were legal and valid, and all the resolutions submitted at the general 

meetings were passed.

Board meetings shall be held at least four times a year and convened by the Chairman of the Board with a notice in 

writing given to all Directors and Supervisors 14 days (excluding the day on which the meeting is convened) before the 

meeting. Regular or extraordinary meetings of the Board may be held in the form of teleconferences or by means of other 

communication equipment. So long as the participating Directors can hear and communicate with other Directors, all 

participating Directors shall be deemed to have attended the meeting in person. For other meetings of the Board and 

special committees under the Board, reasonable notice will be given.

Code Provision C.5.8 of the CG Code stipulates that for regular board meetings, and as far as practicable in all other 

cases, an agenda and accompanying board papers should be sent, in full, to all directors. These should be sent in a 

timely manner and at least 3 days before the intended date of a board or board committee meeting (or other agreed 

period).

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board convened 12 meetings during the year and considered and approved 

a total of 37 resolutions.

The Chairman of the Board meets with independent non-executive Directors annually without the presence of other 

Directors.
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The following table sets out the attendance of each of the Directors at the meetings of the Board, the special committees 

under the Board and general meetings for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Number of attendance/Number of meetings held

Name of Director Board

Audit 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee

Remuneration 

and Evaluation 

Committee

General 

Meeting

Mr. Xie Yi 12/12 N/A 1/1 N/A 5/5

Mr. Duan Wenming 12/12 N/A N/A N/A 5/5

Mr. Wong Kwok Fu 12/12 N/A N/A N/A 5/5

Mr. Yang Xin1 2/2 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

Mr. Yan Yongxiang2 10/10 N/A N/A N/A 4/4

Mr. Yu Xiao 12/12 4/4 N/A N/A 5/5

Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa 12/12 4/4 N/A 1/1 4/5

Dr. Dai Xiaofeng 12/12 N/A 1/1 1/1 5/5

Mr. Tse Chi Wai 12/12 4/4 1/1 N/A 5/5
      

Notes: 

1.	 Mr. Yang Xin was appointed as a Director with effect from October 30, 2024.

2.	 Mr. Yan Yongxiang was resigned with effect from October 9, 2024.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Directors should participate in appropriate continuing professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge 

and skills. The Directors have been informed of the requirement under Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code regarding 

continuous professional development. The Company has arranged training for its Directors and provided them with 

reading material on relevant topics. Every newly appointed Director shall receive a formal and comprehensive induction 

on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the 

Company. All Directors have received formal and comprehensive training regarding their responsibilities and obligations 

under the Listing Rules and relevant laws. All Directors have been trained in respect of the duties and responsibilities of 

Directors, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to Directors and the duty of disclosure of interests, and have read 

materials relevant to the Company’s business or the Directors’ functions and powers.
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The table below sets forth the training received by Directors for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Directors Types of training (1)

Mr. Xie Yi A, B

Mr. Duan Wenming A, B

Mr. Wong Kwok Fu A, B

Mr. Yang Xin A, B

Mr. Yu Xiao A, B

Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa A, B

Dr. Dai Xiaofeng A, B

Mr. Tse Chi Wai A, B
  

Note:

(1)	 Types of training include:

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars and conferences.

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant publications.

THE REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and Supervisors and the respective remuneration of the five highest paid 

individuals for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration level of the Company’s senior management (excluding Directors) for the year ended December 31, 

2024 is set out below:

Remuneration Level (RMB) Number of persons

0-500,000 6

500,001-1,000,000 nil
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed the functions set 

out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, and has developed and reviewed the issuer’s policies and practices on 

corporate governance; reviewed and monitored the training and continuing professional development of Directors 

and senior management and the issuer’s policies and practices in relation to compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements; developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and compliance manual to employees and 

Directors; and reviewed the issuer’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has formulated and adopted the whistleblowing policies in accordance with Code Provision D.2.6 of the 

CG Code, and also formulated and adopted the policies that support anti-bribery and anti-graft practices in accordance 

with Code Provision D.2.7 of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company is in the process of seeking appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against its 

Directors. As of the date of this report, the Company has not yet finalized the insurance arrangement, as the Board is still 

in the process of identifying a suitable insurance policy available in the market. 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTORL

The Board is of the view that effective risk management and internal control are integral and indispensable to the 

Group’s achievement of long-term business growth and sustainable development. The purpose of establishing the risk 

management and internal control framework is to manage and reduce the Group’s exposure to business risks to the 

extent acceptable, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and to be able to only provide 

reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misrepresentation or loss.

Risk Management and Internal Control Arrangements

We have established risk management and internal control systems consisting of policies and procedures that are 

designed to identify, assess and manage risks arising from our operations and monitor our overall compliance. Details 

on risk categories identified by our management, internal and external reporting mechanisms, remedial measures and 

contingency management have been codified in our policies. We have formulated the Risk Management Basic System 

(《風險管理基本制度》), which stipulates the identification, assessment, monitoring and control activities of risks in the 

operation and management process.
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In particular, we have adopted, among other things, the following risk management measures:

•	 establishing an Audit Committee under the Board to monitor the integrity of our financial statements and review 

financial reporting judgments contained in our annual and interim reports. Our Audit Committee consists of three 

Directors, namely Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa, Mr. Tse Chi Wai and Mr. Yu Xiao. Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa is the 

chairman of the Audit Committee and the independent non-executive Director with appropriate professional 

qualifications. For details of the qualifications and experiences of these members, please refer to the section 

headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” in this annual report;

•	 adopting adequate internal control policies to ensure the continuing compliance with the Listing Rules, including 

but not limited to the detection and administration of notifiable and connected transactions, horizontal competition 

and other disclosure matters;

•	 providing regular anti-corruption and anti-bribery compliance training for senior management and employees in 

order to cultivate a good compliance culture, such as to carry out clean and anti-corruption propaganda when new 

employees entered, and to hold regular lectures; and

•	 our human resources department is responsible for monitoring compliance with our internal rules and procedures 

by our employees to ensure that we comply with the relevant regulatory requirements and the applicable laws so as 

to reduce our legal risks.

Risk Management Procedure

Our risk management procedures include defining procedures for identifying, assessing, responding to, and overseeing 

risks and their changes. Our management regularly communicates and discusses with each business department, 

collects the risks identified by each department at the daily operational level, and strengthens their understanding of risk 

management at the strategic level to promote two-way communication. By gathering risk perspectives from different 

angles, the management formulates risk coverage to ensure comprehensive identification of risks relevant to us. Risk 

identification is a continuous and interactive process that facilitates communication of key risks between operational and 

strategic levels.
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Major Risks, Risk Management and Internal Control of the Company for the Year

The Board believes that, during the year ended December 31, 2024, our risk management and internal control system 

were effective and the overall risk level was within its acceptable level. The Board confirms that it is responsible for 

our risk management and internal control systems and regularly reviews the effectiveness of such systems. After risk 

assessment, the Company’s major risks in 2024 mainly involve business risks, financial risks, and compliance risks. 

According to the actual situation, the Group has formulated practical and feasible response plans to effectively manage 

risks:

•	 Business risks: The business risks the Group mainly faces include macro-environmental risks, competition risks, 

and sustainability risks. In addition, the Group constantly faces the challenge of responding promptly to market 

changes within the industry sectors it operates in. Any failure to interpret market trends properly and adapt its 

strategy to such changes accordingly, as well as termination or non-renewal of our services contracts could have 

a adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations. The Board regularly reviews 

and identifies potential risks of the Group, and adjusts strategies and policies in a timely manner, to ensure that the 

business risks are controlled and managed.

•	 Financial risks: The Group has formulated financial risk management methods to control the Group’s financial risk 

exposure, such as credit risks, liquidity risks, interest rate and currency risks. Also, the Board monitors the financial 

results and key operating statistics with the assistance of the Group’s internal finance department on a regular 

basis.The financial risk management of the Group is set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

•	 Compliance risks: The Group has formulated internal procedures to monitor the Group’s compliance risks to 

ensure that the Group has complied with the laws and regulations of the regions where the Group conducts 

business. In addition, the Group engages professional advisers from time to time to keep the Group updated with 

the latest development in the regulatory environments.

The Board acknowledges that such risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage the risks 

associated with the achievement of business objectives but not to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve them. In addition, 

it can only make reasonable rather than absolute assurance that no material misstatement or loss will result.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems and confirms to review the effectiveness 

of the risk management and internal control at least once a year. Through the summary and evaluation of the results 

of various internal control work of the Company, it is confirmed that the management has effectively and orderly 

implemented the various risk management and internal control systems of the Company.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control systems for the year ended December 31, 2024 to 

ensure their effectiveness and adequacy. The review covered all material controls, including financial, operational and 

compliance controls and risk management functions. The Board is of the view that our risk management and internal 

control systems for the year ended December 31, 2024 were effective and adequate.

PROCEDURES FOR HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company maintains a policy on disclosure of inside information with reference to the Guidelines on Disclosure of 

Inside Information issued by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission. The policy sets out procedures and 

internal controls for handling and disseminating inside information in an appropriate and timely manner, such as taking 

steps to determine sufficient details, conducting internal assessment of the matter and its possible impact on the 

Company, seeking professional advice when required and verifying the facts. Anyone in possession of the information 

must ensure such information is kept in strict confidentiality and is not allowed to buy or sell any securities of the 

Company until the information is fully disclosed to the public.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RELATION TO 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors understand their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 

December 31, 2024, which give a true and fair view of the condition of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s 

results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board 

to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval. 

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to 

continue as an ongoing concern.

The auditor’s statement on its reporting responsibilities in respect of the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set 

out in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the emolument paid/payable by the Company to its external auditor, KPMG for 

the audit services and non-audit services provided, is as follows: 

Type of services provided by external auditor Amount of fees

RMB000

Audit services 1,510

Other servicesNote 1,820
  

Total 3,330
  

Note:

Other services mainly include interim review services for the Group in 2024, agreed upon procedures and assurance services related to the audit 
of the Group.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wong Kwok Fu is one of our joint company secretaries. For details of his biography, see the paragraphs headed “V. 

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT – Directors – Executive Directors” in this report.

Mr. Lam Kang Chi was appointed as our joint company secretary in September 2023. For details of his biography, see 

the paragraphs headed “V. DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT – Joint Company Secretaries” in 

this report.

Mr. Wong Kwok Fu and Mr. Lam Kang Chi have confirmed that they have received relevant professional training of not 

less than 15 hours in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended December 31, 2024. Since 

Mr. Lam Kang Chi is an external service provider, Mr. Wong Kwok Fu, one of the executive Director, would be the person 

at the Company whom Mr. Lam Kang Chi can contact according to code provision C.6.1 of the CG Code.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In order to safeguard the interests and rights of Shareholders, the Company proposes separate resolutions on significant 

events (including the election of individual Director) at general meetings. All resolutions proposed at general meetings will 

be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules, and the poll results will be published on the websites of the Company and 

the Hong Kong Stock Exchange upon the conclusion of each general meeting.
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Convening of an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 50 of the Articles of Association, Shareholder(s) individually or collectively holding more than 10% 

of the Company’s Shares have the right to request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting and add 

proposals to the meeting agenda. The aforementioned requests must be submitted to the Board in writing. The Board 

shall provide written feedback on whether it agrees or disagrees to convene an extraordinary general meeting within ten 

days after receiving the request in accordance with the provisions of laws, administrative regulations and these Articles of 

Association.

If the Board agrees to convene an extraordinary general meeting, it shall issue a notice to convene the general meeting 

within five days after the making of the resolution of the Board. Consent of the relevant Shareholders must be obtained 

for any changes to the original request in the notice.

If the Board does not agree to convene an extraordinary general meeting, or fails to provide feedback within ten days 

after receiving the request, Shareholders individually or collectively holding more than 10% of the Company’s Shares 

have the right to propose to the Supervisory Committee to convene an extraordinary general meeting, and the request 

shall be made in writing to the Supervisory Committee.

If the Supervisory Committee agrees to convene an extraordinary general meeting, it shall issue a notice to convene 

the general meeting within five days of receiving the request. Any changes to the original request in the notice must be 

approved by the relevant Shareholders.

If the Supervisory Committee fails to issue a notice of the general meeting within the prescribed time limit, it shall be 

deemed that the Supervisory Committee has not convened and presided over the general meeting. Shareholders who 

individually or collectively hold more than 10% of the Company’s shares for more than 90 consecutive days may convene 

and preside over the meeting on their own.

Proposing Resolutions at a General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 55 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders who individually or collectively hold more than 3% of 

the Company’s Shares may put forward temporary proposals and submit in writing to the convener ten days before the 

general meeting. After receiving the proposal, the convener shall issue a supplementary notice of the general meeting 

and announce the contents of the temporary proposal in accordance with the requirements of the listing regulatory rules 

of the place where the Company’s Shares are listed.

Enquiries to the Board

The Company maintains a website at www.hollwingroup.com, where information on the Company’s businesses and 

projects, key corporate governance policies and announcements, financial reports and other information are available for 

public access. Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests to the Company by the following ways:

Address: 9/F, �Building A1, Xiangjiang Times Square, No. 179, Pilot Road, Yuelu District, Changsha, Hunan Province, 

PRC

Email: ir@hollwingroup. com
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is essential to enhance investor relations and to 

keep investors informed of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company has developed and posted 

the Shareholder Communication Policy on our website (www.hollwingroup.com), and has reviewed its implementation 

and effectiveness at least once a year.

The Company has established various and a wide range of communication channels with Shareholders, including general 

meeting, annual results and interim results, annual and interim reports, announcements and circulars and performance 

conference. To facilitate the communication between the Company and investors, the Company holds meetings, 

briefings and roadshows with investors and analysts from time to time. Apart from that, the Company invites investors 

and business stakeholders to visit our management site every now and then, giving them the opportunities to meet with 

the local management and visit our facilities. During their visits, the Company collects feedback from visitors on our 

performance and learns about their expectations.

Under the Shareholder Communication Policy, the Shareholders may make enquiries with the Company, and provide 

comments and recommendations to the Directors or managements at any time. Upon receipt of written enquiries 

from Shareholders, the Company will make actual responses to the Shareholders as soon as possible. In addition, the 

Company updates its website from time to time to keep the Shareholders updated of the recent development of the 

Company. The Company endeavors to maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders. At the general meeting, the 

Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet with the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder 

Communication Policy. After taking into account the aforementioned communication channels of investors and the 

measures taken and the events held by the Company, the Company is of the view that the Shareholder Communication 

Policy were effectively implemented in 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopts a general dividend policy that aims to declare and distribute dividends out of the Group’s profit 

attributable to the shareholders of the Company in any financial year. Such dividend declaration and distribution plan 

shall be established at the discretion of the Board approved by the Shareholders of the Company in general meeting and 

subject to all applicable requirements (including without limitation and restrictions on the payment of dividends) under the 

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China and 

the Articles of Association. If the Company’s financial position permits, the Company intends to declare an annual cash 

dividend of not less than 50% of the profit available for distribution for the corresponding year to the shareholders of the 

Company, and the Board has the right to make timely adjustments to the specific plan, amount and percentage of the 

dividend payout for the corresponding year based on results of operations, capital requirements and surplus, general 

business and financial conditions and other factors of the Company that the Board considers relevant. As of the date of 

this report, there is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividend (including 

future dividends).
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For details of the dividend distribution for the year ended December 31, 2024, see final dividend in the “VII. Report of the 

Board”.

EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY

The Group insists on the principle of fairness and voluntariness in recruitment, and does not impose any restrictive 

requirements on gender, ethnicity, nationality and region. In order to avoid child labor and forced labor, we, in strict 

compliance with the provision of Article 15 of the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, ban the employer 

from recruiting juveniles under the age of 16, and strictly check whether the actual age of the candidates meets the 

employment criteria by checking their identity card, etc.

The following table sets out the gender ratio of the Group’s employees (including the Board) as of December 31, 2024:

Female Male

The Board 37.5% 62.5%

Employees 43% 57%
   

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 562 employees, of which 241 were female employees (including 

senior management), representing approximately 43%. The Group considers the overall diversity (including gender 

diversity) of the Group to be balanced as a whole and intends to maintain a similar level of gender diversity of the overall 

staff.

We consider our staff to be crucial to the caliber of our services and the satisfaction of our clients. We provide our 

employees with opportunities for career growth and training in the technical skills essential to our business as part of our 

ongoing efforts to keep and inspire talent.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and as of the date of this annual report, no amendments are made to 

the Articles of Association. The latest version of the Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website  

(www.hollwingroup.com) and the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (www. hkexnews. hk).
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The Board is pleased to present its Directors’ report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for 

the year ended December 31, 2024.

GENERAL INFORMATION AND INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company was established in the PRC on September 7, 2015 and is now a joint stock company with limited liability. 

40,000,000 H Shares of the Company with a nominal value of RMB1.0 per H Share were listed on the Main Board of the 

Hong Kong Stock Exchange on May 17, 2024 by way of global offering of ordinary shares of the Company, at a price of 

HK$3.2 per H Share.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is engaged in the provision of property management services, urban services and commercial operation 

services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for 2024 and the future business development of the Group are set out in the sections 

headed “III. Chairman’s Statement” and “IV. Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

“IV. Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report contains part of the analysis on the Group’s annual 

performance using key financial performance indicators. For explanations on the major relations between the Company 

and its employees, customers and suppliers, please refer to the relevant parts of this section.

These discussions form part of the Report of the Board.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2024, the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 

cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended are set out on the consolidated financial statements on pages 

85 to 89 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.23 per share (tax inclusive) in cash for the year ended 

December 31, 2024 with a proposed dividend payout ratio equivalent to approximately 51.2%. The dividend proposal 

is subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held 

on Friday, June 27, 2025 (the “2024 AGM”), and the proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on or before July 

28, 2025. The proposed final dividend will be declared in Renminbi and distributed in Hong Kong dollars (H shares) and 

Renminbi, and the exchange rate will be the average of the middle rate of the exchange rate published by the People’s 

Bank of China one calendar week prior to the date of declaration of proposed final dividend.
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2024 AGM

The 2024 AGM will be held on Friday, June 27, 2025. The notice of the 2024 AGM will be published on the Company’s 

website (www.hollwingroup.com) and the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and 

dispatched to the Shareholders in the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules in due course as and when necessary.

DIVIDEND TAXATION

According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (《中華人民共和國企業所得稅法》) with effect on January 

1, 2008 and being revised on February 24, 2017 and December 29, 2018, the Implementation Regulations on the 

Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (《中華人民共和國企業所得稅法實施條例》) with effect on January 1, 2008 

and being revised on April 23, 2019 and December 6, 2024, and the Notice on Issues concerning Withholding the 

Enterprise Income Tax on Dividends Paid by Chinese Resident Enterprises to H Shares holders who are Overseas Non-

resident Enterprises (Guo Shui Han [2008] No. 897) (《關於中國居民企業向境外H股非居民企業股東派發股息代扣

代繳企業所得稅有關問題的通知》) (國稅函[2008] 897號) issued with effect on November 6, 2008 by State Taxation 

Administration, etc., any Chinese domestic enterprise which pays dividend to a non-resident enterprise shareholder in 

respect of annual dividends of and after 2008 shall withhold and pay 10% enterprise income tax for such shareholder for 

fiscal periods after 1 January 2008. Therefore, as a PRC domestic enterprise, the Company will, after withholding 10% 

of the annual dividend as enterprise income tax, distribute the annual dividend to non-resident enterprise shareholders 

(i. e. any shareholders who hold the Company’s H shares in the name of non-individual shareholders, including but 

not limited to HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, trustees, or holders of H shares registered in the name of 

other organizations and groups) whose names appear on the register of members of H shares of the Company. Upon 

receipt of such dividends, an overseas non-resident enterprise shareholder may apply to the competent tax authorities 

for relevant treatment under the tax treaties (arrangements) in person or through a proxy or the Company and provide 

evidence in support of its status as a beneficial owner as defined in the tax treaties (arrangements). Upon verification by 

the competent tax authorities, the difference between the tax levied and the amount of tax payable as calculated at the 

tax rate under the tax treaties (arrangements) will be refunded.

Pursuant to the State Administration of Taxation Notice on Matters Concerning the Levy and Administration of Individual 

Income Tax After the Repeal of Guo Shui Fa [1993] No. 45 (Guo Shui Han [2011] No. 348) (《關於國稅發 [1993] 045

號文件廢止後有關個人所得稅徵管問題的通知》(國稅函 [2011] 348號)) (the “No. 348 Circular”) issued on June 28, 

2011, the overseas resident individual shareholders of the shares issued by domestic non-foreign invested enterprises in 

Hong Kong are entitled to the relevant preferential tax treatment pursuant to the provisions in the tax agreements signed 

between the countries where they are residents and China as well as the tax arrangements between China and Hong 

Kong or Macau. Pursuant to the No. 348 Circular, individual income tax at a tax rate of 10% may in general be withheld 

in respect of the dividend or bonus income to be distributed by the PRC non-foreign-invested enterprises whose shares 

have been issued in Hong Kong to the overseas resident individual shareholders, without any application for favorable tax 

treatments. However, the tax rate for each overseas resident individual shareholder may vary depending on the relevant 

tax agreements between the countries of its domicile and the PRC.
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If the individual holders of H shares are Hong Kong residents, Macau residents and residents of other countries or 

regions that have a tax rate of 10% under the tax treaties with the PRC, the Company will withhold and pay individual 

income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of such shareholders.

If the individual holders of H shares are residents of countries or regions that have a tax rate lower than 10% under the 

tax treaties with the PRC, the Company will withhold and pay individual income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of such 

shareholders. If such shareholders wish to claim refund of the amount in excess of the individual income tax payable 

under the tax treaties, the Company may apply on behalf of such shareholders according to the relevant tax treaties for 

the relevant agreed preferential tax treatment, provided that the relevant shareholders submit the relevant documents and 

information required by the Administrative Measures on Enjoying Treatment under Treaties by Non-resident Taxpayers 

(State Administration of Taxation Announcement 2019, No. 35) (《非居民納稅人享受協定待遇管理辦法》(國家稅務總局

公告2019年第35號)) and the provisions of the relevant tax treaties in a timely manner. The Company will assist with the 

tax refund of additional amount of tax withheld and paid subject to the approval of the competent tax authorities.

If the individual holders of H shares are residents of countries or regions that have a tax rate higher than 10% but lower 

than 20% under the tax treaties with the PRC, the Company will withhold and pay individual income tax at the applicable 

tax rates stated in such tax treaties on behalf of such Shareholders.

If the individual holders of H shares are residents of countries or regions that have a tax rate of 20% under the tax treaties 

with the PRC, or have not entered into any tax treaties with the PRC, or otherwise, the Company will withhold and pay 

individual income tax at the rate of 20% on behalf of such shareholders.

Shareholders are recommended to consult their tax advisors regarding the ownership and disposal of H 

shares of the Company in the PRC and in Hong Kong and other tax effects.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, the register of 

members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, June 24, 2025 to Friday, June 27, 2025, both days inclusive, 

during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify the Shareholders to attend and vote at 

the 2024 AGM, all the completed share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged 

with the Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited (the Company’s H share registrar), at 2103B, 148 Electric Road, 

North Point, Hong Kong (for holders of H Shares) or the Office of the Board of Directors of the Company at 9/F, Building 

A1, Xiangjiang Times Square, No. 179, Pilot Road, Yuelu District, Changsha, Hunan Province, the PRC (for holders 

of Unlisted Shares) not later than 4: 30 p. m. on Monday, June 23, 2025, for registration. Shareholders whose names 

appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, June 27, 2025 are entitled to attend and vote at the 2024 

AGM.
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For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the register of members of 

the Company will be closed from Monday, July 7, 2025 to Wednesday, July 9, 2025, both days inclusive, during which no 

transfer of shares will be registered. In order to determine the Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend, all 

the completed share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Boardroom 

Share Registrars (HK) Limited (the Company’s H share registrar), at 2103B, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong (for 

holders of H shares) or the Office of the Board of Directors of the Company at 9/F, Building A1, Xiangjiang Times Square, 

No. 179, Pilot Road, Yuelu District, Changsha, Hunan Province, the PRC (for holders of Unlisted Shares) not later than 4: 

30 p. m. on Friday, July 4, 2025, for registration. Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the 

Company on Wednesday, July 9, 2025 are entitled to receive the above final dividend.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company issued 40,000,000 H Shares at a price of HK$3.2 per H Share on May 17, 2024.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, details of the changes in share capital of the Company are set out in note 23 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debentures for the year ended December 31, 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment and community in which it operates. The 

Group operates its business in compliance with applicable environmental protection laws and regulations and has 

implemented relevant environmental protection measures in compliance with the required standards under applicable 

PRC laws and regulations. Further details of the Group’s environmental policy and performance will be disclosed in 

the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024, which will be 

published in due course in accordance with the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and the management are aware, the Group has complied in all material aspects with the relevant 

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Company. For the year ended 

December 31, 2024, there was no material breach of, or non-compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the 

Group.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in the “XII. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” of this annual report.

As of December 31, 2024, our aggregate amount of reserve available for distribution to equity Shareholders of the 

Company was approximately RMB136.0 million.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set 

out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in intangible assets of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 11 

to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding borrowings or banking facilities.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals’ remuneration of the Company for the year ended December 

31, 2024 are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

There was no arrangement under which a Director, Supervisor or senior management of the Company has waived 

or agreed to waive any remuneration for the year ended December 31, 2024. During the Reporting Period, there was 

no emolument paid by the Group to any of the Directors, Supervisors or any of the five highest paid individuals as an 

inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company were subject to the confirmation by the 

Remuneration and Evaluation Committee of the Company. The Company strictly abided by the requirements under the 

relevant standards and policies of the Company with regard to the emoluments of the Directors and senior management. 

Directors’ emoluments (including salaries and other benefits) were recommended by the Remuneration and Evaluation 

Committee of the Company to the Board for approval upon taking into account factors such as the Company’s business 

results and Directors’ performance and responsibilities.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 5 to the financial statements in this annual report.

FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past four financial years is set out in the section “II. 

Financial Summary and Four-Year Financial Summary” of this annual report.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including 

sale of treasury shares (as defined under the Listing Rules)) during the Reporting Period. As of December 31, 2024, the 

Company did not hold any treasury shares.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION TO HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the Shareholders of the Company due to their 

holding of the Company’s securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group or still in effect.

DIRECTORS

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the Directors of the Company include:

Name of Directors Position

Mr. Xie Yi (Chairman of the Board) (appointed since 

November 16, 2018)

Executive Director

Mr. Yan Yongxiang (resigned with effect from October 9, 

2024)

Executive Director

Mr. Duan Wenming (Chief Financial Officer) (appointed 

since August 30, 2021)

Executive Director

Mr. Wong Kwok Fu (Secretary of the Board) (appointed 

since November 1, 2020)

Executive Director

Mr. Yang Xin (General Manager) (appointed with effect 

from October 30, 2024)

Executive Director

Mr. Yu Xiao (appointed since November 6, 2020) Non-executive Director

Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa (appointed since May 11, 2023) Independent non-executive Director

Dr. Dai Xiaofeng (appointed since May 11, 2023) Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Tse Chi Wai (appointed since May 11, 2023) Independent non-executive Director
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the annual confirmation letter of independence from each of the independent non-executive 

Directors (namely, Ms. Chan Ka Lai Vanessa, Dr. Dai Xiaofeng and Mr. Tse Chi Wai) pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing 

Rules, and the Company is of the view that all such Directors are independent persons for the year ended December 31, 

2024.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

Each of the Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service contract with the Company and the principal particulars 

of the service contracts of the Directors and Supervisors are: (a) each of the contracts is for a term of three years 

following their respective appointment dates; and (b) each of the contracts is subject to termination upon expiration of the 

respective term of office of each of the Directors and Supervisors. The service contracts may be renewed in accordance 

with the Articles of Association and applicable rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors or Supervisors has entered, or has proposed to enter, a service contract 

with any member of the Group (other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within one year without the 

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN MATERIAL 
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Director, Supervisor or any entity connected with the Directors, 

Supervisors of the Company is materially interested in, either directly or indirectly, any material transactions, arrangements 

or contracts relating to the business of the Company to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or any of their respective associates (as defined in the 

Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with the Company’s business as 

required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT 
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2024, none of the Directors, Supervisors or the chief executives of the Company had or was 

deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its 

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that were required to be notified to the Company and 

the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which 

they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be recorded in the register 

required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended December 31, 2024 were there any rights to acquire benefits by means of the purchase 

of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under 18 

years of age, nor were there any such rights exercised by them. Also, there was no subsisting arrangement to which the 

Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries is a party that would enable the Directors 

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES 
OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As of December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons (other than Directors, 

Supervisors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which 

fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or recorded in the 

register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder/

Ultimate Controller Nature of interest1 Type of Shares

Number of 

Shares held

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding in 

the relevant type 

of Shares2

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding in 

the total issued 

Shares of the 

Company3

CSUDGCL Beneficial owner Unlisted Shares 114,000,000 95.00% 71.25%

Interest held by a 

controlled corporation4

Unlisted Shares 6,000,000 5.00% 3.75%

Asian Equity Special Opportunities 

Portfolio Master Fund Limited

Beneficial owner5 H Shares 8,816,000 22.04% 5.51%

RAYS Capital Partners Limited Investment manager5 H Shares 8,818,000 22.04% 5.51%

RUAN David Ching Chi Interest held by a 

controlled corporation5

H Shares 8,818,000 22.04% 5.51%

      

Notes:

1.	 All interests stated are long positions.

2.	 The calculation is based on a total number of 160,000,000 Shares in issue (including 120,000,000 Unlisted Shares and 40,000,000 H 
Shares) as of December 31, 2024.

3.	 The calculation is based on the total number of 160,000,000 Shares in issue as of December 31, 2024.

4.	 Yuelushan Tourism Culture developmenet Co., Ltd. (岳麓山旅遊文化開發有限公司) (“Yuelushan Company”) is indirectly wholly-owned 
by CSUDGCL. Accordingly, CSUDGCL is deemed to be interested in such Shares held by Yuelushan Company for the purpose of the 
SFO.

5.	 Based on publicly available information, RAYS Capital Partners Limited is the investment manager of Asian Equity Special Opportunities 
Portfolio Master Fund Limited. RUAN David Ching Chi holds 45.6% equity interests in RAYS Capital Partners Limited. Accordingly, 
RUAN David Ching Chi and RAYS Capital Partners Limited are deemed to be interested in such Shares held by Asian Equity Special 
Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited for the purpose of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, the Company had not been notified of any other interests or 

short positions held by any other person in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be 

recorded or otherwise disclosed to the Company under the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the period from the Listing Date up to December 31, 2024, the Group had no share option scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 

Company were entered into or existed for the year ended December 31, 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

CSUDGCL, CUCID Group and Yuelushan Company, our controlling Shareholders, entered into a non-competition 

undertaking in favor of the Company. Changsha Water Industry Group Company Limited (長沙水業集團有限公司) 

(“Shuiye Group”) and Changsha Ranqi Shiye Group Company Limited (長沙市燃氣實業有限公司) (“Ranqi Group”) also 

entered into non-competition undertakings in favor of the Company.

Please refer to “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders – Non-Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus of the 

Company dated May 8, 2024 for more details.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, CSUDGCL, CUCID Group, Yuelushan Company, Shuiye Group, and Ranqi 

Group confirmed that they had complied with the non-competition undertaking.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the confirmation letters issued by the aforemetioned entities in 

relation to their compliance with the non-competition undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

During the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue from the Group’s five largest customers contributed approximately 

60.32% (FY2023: 66.4%) of the Group’s total revenue while the largest customer contributed approximately 38.96% 

(FY2023: 44.4%) of the Group’s total revenue during the year.
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Major Suppliers

During the year ended December 31, 2024, purchases from our five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 

33.27% (FY2023: 36.3%) of the Group’s total purchases during the year, while purchases from the largest supplier 

accounted for approximately 13.76% (FY2023: 18.0%) of the Group’s total purchases during the year.

Save for that Mr. Yang Xin, an executive Director of the Company, and Mr. Yu Xiao, a non-executive Director of the 

Company, hold management positions at CSUDGCL and its associates (other than the Group), for the year ended 

December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge 

of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of the issued shares of the Company) was interested in the top five 

customers or suppliers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights over shares of the Company under the Company’s Articles of Association, 

or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 

Shareholders.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected Transaction” below, neither the Company nor any 

of its subsidiaries entered into any significant contracts with the controlling Shareholders of the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group entered into a number of non-exempted continuing connected 

transactions with the following connected persons. In 2024, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing 

connected transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of Chapter 14A of the Listing 

Rules:

1.	 Entrusted Parking Lot Operation

On May 5, 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into an entrusted parking 

lot operation framework agreement (the “Entrusted Parking Lot Operation Framework Agreement”) with 

CSUDGCL (for itself and on behalf of its associates), pursuant to which CSUDGCL and its associates convey 

the right to use the respective parking lots to the Group for a term commencing from the Listing Date up to and 

including December 31, 2026. Given considerable amount of parking lots owned by CSUDGCL and its associates 

in Changsha, by entering into the Entrusted Parking Lot Operation Framework Agreement, the Group can secure a 

substantial amount of parking lots, which enables the Group to maintain its parking lot resources in order to provide 

parking services to the customers as one of the Group’s principal business operations. The proposed annual 

caps for the three years ending 31 December 2026 are RMB12 million, RMB12.6 million and RMB13.7 million, 

respectively (the “Existing Annual Caps”). For details, please see the section headed “Continuing Connected 

Transactions” in the Prospectus.
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During the period from the Listing Date up to December 31, 2024, there was a revision of the annual caps under 

the Entrusted Parking Lot Operation Framework Agreement. To obtain the right to use and manage parking lots 

owned or developed by CSUDGCL and its associates, a fixed percentage of the revenue generated from the 

provision of parking services shall be paid by the Group to CSUDGCL and its associates as parking resource usage 

fees. Due to the growth of the parking lot business of the Group in 2024, the parking resource usage fees paid 

by the Company to CSUDGCL and its associates have increased rapidly, and CSUDGCL has further entrusted 

more parking lots to the Company. On December 17, 2024, the Company entered into a supplemental agreement 

with CSUDGCL (for itself and on behalf of its associates), to revise the Existing Annual Caps under the Entrusted 

Parking Lot Operation Framework Agreement. Pursuant to the supplemental agreement, the proposed annual 

caps were revised to RMB16.4 million, RMB16.4 million and RMB17 million, respectively, for the three years ending 

31 December 2026. The actual transaction amount for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB14.3 million.

Save for the revision of the Existing Annual Caps, all other terms and conditions under the Entrusted Parking Lot 

Operation Framework Agreement remain unchanged. Please refer to the announcement issued by the Company 

dated December 17, 2024 for details.

2.	 Technology System and Equipment Usage and Maintenance Service

On May 5, 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a technology system and 

equipment usage and maintenance services framework agreement with CSUDGCL (for itself and on behalf of its 

associates), pursuant to which CSUDGCL and its associates agreed to provide to the Group technology system 

and equipment usage and maintenance services, including but not limited to (i) the purchase and development of 

online platform, software and electronic equipment resources; and (ii) the provision of maintenance services relating 

to equipment, software and other resources for a term commencing from the Listing Date up to and including 

December 31, 2026. The entering into of such transactions enables the Group to utilize the network infrastructure 

resources and information technology support from CSUDGCL and its associates as supplement to the Group’s 

existing information technology system and software in order to enhance the efficiency of the business operation, as 

well as technology research and development. The proposed annual caps for the three years ending 31 December 

2026 are RMB10.5 million, RMB5.6 million and RMB5 million, respectively. For details, please see the section 

headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus. The actual transaction amount for the Reporting 

Period was approximately RMB7.4 million.

3.	 Resources Purchase

On May 5, 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a resources purchase 

framework agreement with CSUDGCL (for itself and on behalf of its associates), pursuant to which CSUDGCL and 

its associates agreed to provide to the Group resources provision services, including but not limited to the provision 

of fuel oil, gas, asphalt, heating and cooling, and water resources for a term commencing from the Listing Date up 

to and including December 31, 2026. The Group have been purchasing resources (such as fuel oil for our vehicles 

and equipment, asphalt for its provision of landscaping and engineering services, and gas for its provision of 

property management services) from CSUDGCL and its associates since our establishment. The proposed annual 

caps for the three years ending 31 December 2026 are RMB22.3 million, RMB22.7 million and RMB23.3 million, 

respectively. For details, please see the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus. 

The actual transaction amount for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB19.9 million.
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4.	 Property Leasing

On May 5, 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a property leasing framework 

agreement with CSUDGCL (for itself and on behalf of its associates), pursuant to which the Group agreed to lease 

certain properties including office buildings and dormitories for employees from CSUDGCL and its associates, for 

a term commencing from the Listing Date up to and including December 31, 2026. In light of the prime locations, 

reasonable rent, the satisfactory building condition, quality maintenance work and stable lease term provided by 

CSUDGCL and its associates to the Group, the Directors believe continuing to lease properties from CSUDGCL 

and its associates would save the costs in sourcing new locations and avoid any incidental expenses for renting 

new offices, as well as enhancing the stability of business operations of the Group. The proposed annual caps for 

the three years ending 31 December 2026 are RMB3.1 million, RMB3.6 million and RMB3.6 million, respectively. 

For details, please see the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus. The actual 

transaction amount for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB0.5 million.

5.	 Property Management Service

On May 5, 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a property management 

services framework agreement with CSUDGCL (for itself and on behalf of its associates) (the “Property 

Management Service Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to provide to CSUDGCL 

and its associates property management services, including but not limited to cleaning and general greening 

services, security services, repair and maintenance services and customer services in respect of (i) property units 

developed by CSUDGCL and its associates which have been completed and are either unsold or sold but not 

yet delivered to the buyers; and (ii) residential communities, office buildings and other properties owned, used 

or operated by CSUDGCL and its associates, for a term commencing from the Listing Date up to and including 

December 31, 2026. Given the considerable amount of municipal, commercial and residential properties owned 

or developed by CSUDGCL and its associates, by entering into the Property Management Service Framework 

Agreement, the Group can maintain a strategic cooperation relationship with CSUDGCL and its associates, 

providing quality property management services to them. The proposed annual caps for the three years ending 31 

December 2026 are RMB101.5 million, RMB95.6 million and RMB90.9 million, respectively. For details, please see 

the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus. The actual transaction amount for the 

Reporting Period was approximately RMB77.9 million.
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6.	 Commercial Operation Service

On May 5, 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a commercial operation 

service framework agreement (the “Commercial Operation Service Framework Agreement”) with CSUDGCL 

(for itself and on behalf of its associates), pursuant to which our Group agreed to provide to CSUDGCL and 

its associates commercial operation services, including but not limited to (i) property leasing services; and (ii) 

comprehensive operation and management services, such as market commercial positioning, consultancy, tenant 

sourcing services, safety management and daily maintenance for a term commencing from the Listing Date up 

to and including December 31, 2026. Given the considerable amount of commercial and residential properties 

owned or developed by CSUDGCL and its associates, by entering into the Commercial Operation Service 

Framework Agreement, the Group can maintain a strategic cooperation relationship with CSUDGCL and its 

associates, providing quality commercial operation services to them and securing a considerable market share in 

the commercial operation market in Changsha. The proposed annual caps for the three years ending 31 December 

2026 are RMB68.5 million, RMB71.7 million and RMB74 million, respectively. For details, please see the section 

headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus. The actual transaction amount for the Reporting 

Period was approximately RMB57.6 million.

7.	 Landscaping and Engineering Service

On May 5, 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a landscaping and 

engineering services framework agreement with CSUDGCL (for itself and on behalf of its associates) (the 

“Landscaping and Engineering Service Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to 

provide to CSUDGCL and its associates landscaping and engineering services, including but not limited to (i) 

landscaping and engineering services, mainly including environmental improvement, green land remodeling and 

maintenance, tree, grass and flower planting and the tree shaping and sculpting, and (ii) property engineering 

construction services, mainly including construction, installment and maintenance services for building components 

and systems, interior renovation and architectural decoration, for a term commencing from the Listing Date up to 

and including December 31, 2026. Given considerable amount of municipal, commercial and residential properties 

owned or developed by CSUDGCL and its associates, demand of landscaping and engineering services of 

CSUDGCL and its associates will be sizable. By entering into the Landscaping and Engineering Service Framework 

Agreement, the Group can maintain a strategic cooperation relationship with CSUDGCL and its associates, 

providing quality landscaping and engineering services to them. The proposed annual caps for the three years 

ending 31 December 2026 are RMB171.9 million, RMB199.8 million and RMB264.4 million, respectively. For 

details, please see the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus. The actual 

transaction amount for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB120.3 million.
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8.	 Parking Service

On May 5, 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a parking service framework 

agreement (the “Parking Service Framework Agreement”) with CSUDGCL (for itself and on behalf of its 

associates), pursuant to which, our Group agreed to provide to CSUDGCL and its associates parking services for 

the use of their employees, including but not limited to the provision of parking services, parking lot leasing and 

other related value-added services, for a term commencing from the Listing Date up to and including December 

31, 2026. Given the considerable parking services needed by CSUDGCL and its associates based on the scale 

of CSUD Group, by entering into the Parking Service Framework Agreement, the Group is able to maintain a 

strategic cooperation relationship with CSUDGCL and its associates, providing quality parking services to them. 

The proposed annual caps for the three years ending 31 December 2026 are RMB1.6 million, RMB1.6 million and 

RMB1.6 million, respectively. For details, please see the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in 

the Prospectus. The actual transaction amount for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB1.2 million.

9.	 Lighting System Operation Service

On May 5, 2024, the Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into a lighting system operation 

services framework agreement (the “Lighting System Operation Service Framework Agreement”) with 

CSUDGCL (for itself and on behalf of its associates), pursuant to which the Group agreed to provide to CSUDGCL 

and its associates landscape lighting operation and functional lighting operation services, including but not limited 

to (i) operation and maintenance management of night lighting control system; and (ii) operation and maintenance of 

street lights and auxiliary facilities and equipment for a term commencing from the Listing Date up to and including 

December 31, 2026. Entering into the Lighting System Operation Services Framework Agreement enables the 

Group to secure quality lighting system operation projects and also improve the competitiveness in providing quality 

lighting system operation services to third-party customers. The proposed annual caps for the three years ending 

31 December 2026 are RMB14.7 million, RMB14.7 million and RMB14.7 million, respectively. For details, please 

see the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus. The actual transaction amount for 

the Reporting Period was approximately RMB9.2 million.

Continuing Connected Transactions Reviewed by Independent Non-executive Directors

According to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-executive Directors have annually reviewed the 

continuing connected transactions and confirmed that they are:

(i)	 entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii)	 conducted on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii)	 conducted pursuant to the agreement of the related transaction, on fair and reasonable terms and in the interests 

of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Confirmation from the Auditor

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s auditor, KPMG, was engaged by the Board to report on the 

Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 

(Revised), “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference 

to Practice Note 740 (Revised), “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing 

Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Based on the work performed, the auditor of 

the Company confirmed to the Board of Directors that:

(i)	 nothing has come to the attention of the auditor that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing 

connected transactions have not been approved by the Board of Directors;

(ii)	 for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to the attention of the 

auditor that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions were not entered 

into, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(iii)	 nothing has come to the attention of the auditor that causes the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing 

connected transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements 

governing such transactions; and

(iv)	 with respect to the aggregate amount of the above continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to the 

attention of the auditor that causes the auditor to believe that the continuing connected transactions disclosed 

above have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

The Company has allowed, and ensured that the counterparties to the continuing connected transactions allow, the 

auditors sufficient access to their records for the purpose of reporting on the transactions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended December 31, 2024 

are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed above, the related party transactions 

set out in the note above do not fall within the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” 

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 

14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above continuing connected transactions.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 562 employees. For the Reporting Period, the total staff cost of 

the Group was RMB107.1 million (the year ended December 31, 2023: RMB91.5 million). The Group’s employee 

remuneration policy is determined by factors such as remuneration in respect of the local market, the overall 

remuneration standard in the industry, the inflation level, corporate operating efficiency and employee performance. The 

Group conducts performance appraisals once every year for its employees, the results of which are applied in annual 

salary reviews and promotional assessments. The Group considers the employee’s annual bonuses according to certain 

performance criteria and appraisals results. Social insurance contributions are made by the Group for its PRC employees 

in accordance with the relevant PRC regulations. The Group also provides continuous learning and training programs 

to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as to maintain their competitiveness and improve customer 

service quality. The Group did not experience any major difficulties in recruitment, nor did it experience any material loss 

in manpower or suffer from any material labor dispute during the Reporting Period.

HOUSING FUND AND PENSION SCHEME

According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to 

participate in the housing fund and the contribution pension scheme operated by local governments. Under these 

schemes, the Group is required to pay to the contribution pension scheme based on a certain percentage of the 

remuneration of its employees. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the housing fund and pension scheme is 

to make the required contributions under the scheme. Contributions made under the housing fund and pension scheme 

are charged in the statements of profit or loss as incurred.

During the reporting period, no forfeited contributions had been used by the Group to reduce the existing level of 

contributions.

EMPLOYEE TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group considers its staff to be crucial to the caliber of its services and the satisfaction of its clients. The Group 

provides its employees with opportunities for career growth and training in the technical skills essential to its business 

as part of its ongoing efforts to keep and inspire talent. The training programs primarily include induction training for 

newcomers, routine trainings and trainings for all employees. The Group also plan to participate in training sponsored by 

external organizations.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save for note 28 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report, there were no significant events 

subsequent to December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual report that might have a material impact on the 

Group’s operating and financial performance that need to be disclosed.
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MATERIAL LITIGATION

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group was not engaged in any material litigation or arbitration which 

could have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations. So far as the Directors are aware, no such 

litigation or arbitration of material importance is pending or threatened against the Group.

AUDITOR

The Shares of the Company have been listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange since May 17, 2024 and there has 

been no change in the auditor since the Listing Date. The 2023 annual general meeting of the Company held on Friday, 

June 28, 2024 reviewed and approved the appointment of KPMG as the auditor of the Company for the year 2024. The 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 have been audited by KPMG, Certified Public 

Accountants, which will be subject to nomination for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ACCOUNTS REVIEW

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year 

ended December 31, 2024, and discussed with the management and auditors of the Company the accounting principles 

and practices adopted by the Group, as well as risk management, internal control and financial reporting related matters.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company is subject to various laws and regulations, primarily including the Company Law of the PRC, the Civil 

Code of the PRC, the Labor Law of the PRC, the Labor Contract Law of the PRC, the Bidding Law of the PRC, the 

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Production Safety Law of the PRC, the Fire Control Law of the PRC and 

the Land Administration Law of the PRC as well as the Provisions on Property Management and the Regulations on 

Safety Supervision of Special Equipment promulgated by the State Council of the PRC.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company’s business had complied with the relevant laws and regulations 

in all material aspects and had not seriously breached or violated any laws and regulations applicable to the Company 

which would result in a material and adverse impact on the business or financial condition of the Company as a whole.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the published information and to the knowledge of the Directors, for the year ended December 31, 2024 and as 

of the date of this annual report, the Company maintained sufficient public float in compliance with the Listing Rules.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company deeply believes that our employees, customers and business partners are key to our sustainable 

development. The Company strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging our employees, providing 

customers with quality services, collaborating with business partners and supporting public welfare.

The Company places significant emphasis on human resources. The Company provides a fair workplace to employees 

and embraces inclusiveness and multi-cultural backgrounds. Employees are also provided with competitive remuneration 

packages and a wide range of opportunities for career advancement based on their performance. The Company 

administers its health and safety management system for employees and ensures the implementation of the principles 

adopted by the Company. Regular training is provided to employees to keep them abreast of the latest development 

in the market and industry, in the form of both internal training and training courses provided by external professional 

organizations.

The Company values the feedback from customers which is obtained through daily communication and other surveys. 

Moreover, the Company has also established a mechanism for customer service and support. The Company sees 

rendering services to customers as a valuable opportunity to improve its relationship with customers and will respond 

promptly.

The Company understands that the role of suppliers is equally important for providing quality services, therefore it has 

actively cooperated with business partners to provide premium and sustainable services.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Company has been actively promoting sustainable development and environmental protection. It has been proactive 

in facilitating and achieving effective use of resources during its operation and has strictly complied with laws and 

regulations in connection with environmental protection and health. At the same time, various types of environmental and 

public welfare activities were held in the course of its operation to promote the concept of environmental protection to 

every sector of the society in order to build a green and wonderful future together.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company believes that promoting sustainable development is as important as achieving long-term business growth. 

It has therefore made continuous efforts to maintain a high degree of sustainable development in its operations. The 

Company is committed to strengthening its management’s efforts to promote a sustainable development plan through 

good corporate governance, environmental protection, community investment and workplace practices.
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VII. REPORT OF THE BOARD

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to transparency and accountability to its stakeholders, the Company will 

issue separately an Environmental, Social and Governance Report under the Environmental, Social and Governance 

Reporting Guide as specified in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules. The report will present the Company’s commitment 

to sustainable development during the year under review, and it will cover the significant economic, environmental and 

social achievements and impacts arising from the activities of the Company and its joint ventures.

By order of the Board

Hollwin Urban Operation Service Group Co., Ltd

Mr. Xie Yi

Chairman and Executive Director

Changsha, Hunan Province, the PRC

March 31, 2025
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VIII. REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE AND CHANGES IN THE MEMBERS 
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Supervisors of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual report include:

Mr. Huang Guohui (Chairperson)

Ms. Peng Juanjuan

Ms. Xiao Mingxi

MAJOR WORK OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE IN 2024

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the functions and powers of the Supervisory Committee include, among other 

things, reviewing the financial management of our Company, supervising the performance of our Directors and senior 

management members, monitoring as to whether they comply with the law, administrative stipulations and Articles of 

Association when performing their duties, and requesting Directors and senior management members to rectify actions 

detrimental to our Company’s interests. In addition, our Supervisory Committee is responsible for exercising other 

powers, functions and duties in accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable laws and regulations.

During 2024, the Supervisory Committee fulfilled its duties and obligations in a serious manner by various ways including 

convening Supervisory Committee meetings, participating in shareholders’ general meetings, meetings of the Board 

in accordance with the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure of the 

Supervisory Committee for the interests of the Shareholders. The Supervisory Committee monitored the Company’s 

management and operation, implementation of resolutions of the shareholders’ meeting, directors’ and management’s 

compliance with laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of Association when performing their respective duties.

The Supervisory Committee is of the view that, during 2024, the Company operated strictly in accordance with the 

requirements of relevant laws and regulations, such as the Listing Rules, and the internal control management system, 

such as the Articles of Association, and the Directors, senior management of the Company performed their duties 

diligently and faithfully in accordance with laws, regulations and the Articles of Association, thereby effectively protecting 

the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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VIII. REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Convening Meetings of the Supervisory Committee according to Laws, and Earnestly Performing 
Supervisory Duties

During the Reporting Period, the Supervisory Committee of the Company convened three meetings, which reviewed the 

work report of the Supervisory Committee of the Company in 2024. Supervisors carefully reviewed meeting materials and 

fully studied and discussed the proposals before attending the meetings of the Supervisory Committee. They attended all 

meetings of the Supervisory Committee in person and earnestly performed supervisory duties. Details are as follows:

Name Type of Supervisor

Number of meetings 

attended/convened Attendance rate

Mr. Huang Guohui (Chairperson) Representative of the 

shareholders

3/3 100%

Ms. Peng Juanjuan Representative of the 

shareholders

3/3 100%

Ms. Xiao Mingxi Representative of the employees 

of the company

3/3 100%

    

During the Reporting Period, the members of the Supervisory Committee supervised the procedures and content of the 

meetings by attending shareholders’ general meetings, meetings of the Board and meetings of the manager’s office, and 

effectively monitored the Company’s decision-making procedures, operation of the Company according to laws, financial 

condition, and supervised the Directors and the management in the performance of their duties during the course of daily 

operations of the Company, which safeguarded the legitimate interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

Evaluation on Behaviors of the Board and the Senior Management in 2024

During 2024, the Board and the senior management performed their duties diligently, operated business in compliance 

with laws, thoroughly learnt about the operation of the Company and conducted adequate discussions so as to make 

collective decisions on relevant matters of the Company and facilitate the implementation of various resolutions passed 

by the Board.

During 2024, procedures for making major operating decisions of the Company were legal and valid. The Directors 

and senior management of the Company were able to conscientiously perform their duties with a pioneering spirit in 

strict compliance with national laws and regulations, relevant provisions of the Articles of Association and resolutions of 

shareholders’ meetings and the Board; none of the Directors or senior management of the Company were found by the 

Supervisory Committee to have committed any acts in contravention of laws, regulations or the Articles of Association or 

detrimental to the interests of the Shareholders and the Company.
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VIII. REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

INDEPENDENT OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANY’S 
OPERATION

Lawful Operation of the Company

The Company operated and managed its businesses in accordance with the laws and regulations, and its operational 

results were objective and true. There has been gradual improvement in its internal control management, and the internal 

control system was reasonable and effective. The Company’s operational decision-making processes were legitimate. 

The Directors and senior management were cautious, conscientious and diligent in the business operations and 

management processes, and they were not found to have breached any laws, regulations, or the Articles of Association 

or harmed the interests of the Shareholders.

Financial Report of the Company

The Supervisory Committee of the Company reviewed the Group’s audited financial report for the year ended December 

31, 2024 and other financial information. It believed that the financial report reflected the Company’s operating results 

and financial condition in a comprehensive, truthful and objective manner. Financial accounts were unambiguous, 

accounting and financial management were in compliance with relevant regulations, and no problem was found, and they 

were not aware of any violation of the relevant accounting standards and legal requirements by the personnel who were 

involved in the preparation and review of the annual report; the unqualified opinion on financial report issued by the audit 

firm was objective and fair.

Major Initiatives of the Supervisory Committee for 2025

In 2025, the Supervisory Committee will work diligently and faithfully under relevant requirements of the Listing Rules, the 

Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Committee, implement effective supervision on the 

Directors and senior management of the Company, closely monitor the operation and management of the Company, 

pay attention to any significant development of the Company to promote sustainable development of the Company, 

and faithfully safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Company as a whole. Meanwhile, the Supervisory 

Committee will further integrate supervision resources, procure improvement in management, assist in and ensure 

successful realization of the Company’s work targets for 2025.
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IX. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders 

of Hollwin Urban Operation Service Group Co., Ltd

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hollwin Urban Operation Service Group Co., Ltd (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 85 to 146 which comprises the consolidated statement 

of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then 

ended and Notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by International Accounting Standards Board 

(“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 

in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) 

together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the 

People’s Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 

and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.
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IX. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on the matter.

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables and contract assets

Refer to Notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on Note 2(h).

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross trade 

receivables and gross contract assets amounted to 

RMB198.45 million and RMB296.42 million, respectively, 

against which allowances of RMB33.03 million and 

RMB10.11 million for expected credit losses (“ECLs”), 

respectively, were recorded.

Management measures the ECL allowance for the trade 

receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to 

lifetime ECL based on the Group’s historical collection 

experience for different categories of customers, and the 

ageing of trade receivables and contract assets.

According to the past experience of the Group, the credit 

loss patterns of different customer groups are significantly 

different. The Group clusters customers into customer 

groups based on historical collection experience. The 

Group estimates ECL allowance for trade receivables 

and contract assets for each of the customer groups with 

similar loss patterns.

We identified the ECL allowance for trade receivables 

and contract assets as a key audit matter because trade 

receivables and contract assets and ECL allowance are 

material to the Group’s financial statements and because 

the recognition of ECL is inherently subjective and 

requires significant management judgement.

Our audit procedures to ECL al lowance of trade 

receivables and contract assets included the following:

•	 obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the 

design, implementation and operating effectiveness 

of key internal controls relating to categorisation of 

customers, ageing analysis review, estimation of 

ECLs and making related allowance;

•	 evaluating the Group’s policy and methods for 

estimating the ECL allowance with reference to 

the requirements of the applicable accounting 

standard;

•	 assess ing the appropr iateness of  the key 

assumptions adopted by the management in the 

ECL model, including the basis of segmentation of 

the trade debtors and contract assets based on the 

shared credit risk characteristics;

•	 assessing the accuracy and reliabil ity of the 

parameters used for the estimated ECL rates 

by examining historical collection data of trade 

receivables and contract assets, and assessing, on 

a sample basis, whether the trade receivables and 

contract assets were categorised in the appropriate 

time bands by comparing individual items with sales 

invoices or other underlying documentation; and

•	 re-performing the calculation of the ECL allowance 

as at 31 December 2024 based on the Group’s 

ECL policy and methods.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in the 

annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 

in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial 

reporting process.
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IX. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or 

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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IX. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 

of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group 

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 

to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine the matter that was of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and is therefore the key audit matter. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wong Chun Pong.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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X. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 4 683,511 651,875

Cost of sales (511,187) (500,044)
    

Gross profit 172,324 151,831
    

Other net income 5(f) 536 2,184

Selling expenses (4,413) (4,742)

Administrative expenses (68,125) (53,391)

Expected credit loss 5(e) (9,706) (7,266)
    

Profit from operations 90,616 88,616

Share of profits less losses of an associate and joint 

ventures 13/14 1,836 2,178

Finance income 5(a) 2,730 2,212

Finance costs 5(b) (68) (6)
    

Profit before taxation 95,114 93,000

Income tax 6 (23,632) (22,822)
    

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 71,482 70,178
    

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company 71,858 70,178

Non-controlling interests (376) –
    

Profit for the year 71,482 70,178
    

Earnings per share (RMB)

Basic and diluted 9 0.50 0.58
    

The Notes on pages 90 to 146 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity 

shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in Note 23(b).
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XI. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 10(a) 17,286 17,971

Intangible assets 11 47 83

Investments in joint ventures 13 14,635 13,080

Investment in an associate 14 10,736 11,039

Deferred tax assets 22(b) 13,124 10,235

Long-term deposits 842 –

Prepayments for acquisition of non-current assets 2,890 1,426
    

59,560 53,834
    

Current assets

Inventories 15 3,680 4,152

Contract assets 16(a) 286,302 249,703

Prepayments, trade and other receivables 17 187,013 125,182

Tax recoverable 22(a) – 2,434

Restricted bank deposits 18 5,325 4,579

Cash and cash equivalents 18 354,668 210,210
    

836,988 596,260
    

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 480,002 359,698

Contract liabilities 16(b) 23,578 18,475

Lease liabilities 20 761 30

Current taxation 22(a) 13,690 13,905
    

518,031 392,108
    

Net current assets 318,957 204,152
    

Total assets less current liabilities 378,517 257,986
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(Expressed in Renminbi)

XI. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 20 2,139 –

Deferred income 21 1,860 2,132
    

3,999 2,132
    

NET ASSETS 374,518 255,854
    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 23

Share capital 23(c) 160,000 120,000

Reserves 23(d) 214,513 135,854
    

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders  

of the Company 374,513 255,854

Non-controlling interests 5 –
    

TOTAL EQUITY 374,518 255,854
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2025.

Xie Yi	 Duan Wenming

Chairman	 Executive Director

	   and Chief Financial Officer

The Notes on pages 90 to 146 form part of these financial statements.
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XII. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Note

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Statutory 

surplus 

reserve

Retained 

profits Total

Non- 

controlling 

interests Total equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2023 120,000 – 5,605 60,071 185,676 – 185,676

Changes in equity for 2023:

Profit and total comprehensive income for 

the year – – – 70,178 70,178 – 70,178

Appropriation for statutory surplus reserve – – 333 (333) – – –
         

Balance at 31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024 120,000 – 5,938 129,916 255,854 – 255,854

Changes in equity for 2024:

Profit and total comprehensive income for 

the year – – – 71,858 71,858 (376) 71,482

Issuance of shares by initial public offering 23(c) 40,000 42,001 – – 82,001 – 82,001

Special dividends declared 23(b) – – – (35,200) (35,200) – (35,200)

Appropriation for statutory surplus reserve 23(d) – – 16,261 (16,261) – – –

Capital contribution receivable from non-

controlling interests – – – – – 381 381
         

Balance at 31 December 2024 160,000 42,001 22,199 150,313 374,513 5 374,518
         

The Notes on pages 90 to 146 form part of these financial statements.
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XIII. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in Renminbi)

Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Operating activities

Cash generated from operations 18(b) 100,658 122,161

Income tax paid 22(a) (24,302) (44,467)
    

Net cash generated from operating activities 76,356 77,694
    

Investing activities

Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment 

and other non-current assets (4,935) (10,439)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 

and investment properties 14 21

Capital contribution to a joint venture – (510)

Advances to related parties – (425)

Proceeds from repayment of advances to related parties – 66,583

Interests received 2,722 2,212

Dividends received from an associate 672 851
    

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (1,527) 58,293
    

Financing activities

Capital element of lease rentals paid 18(c) (669) (148)

Interest element of lease rentals paid 18(c) (68) (6)

Advances from related parties 18(c) 3,183 12,700

Repayments of advances from related parties 18(c) (4,319) (28,575)

Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the Company 18(c) (35,200) (5,090)

Net cash out on Reorganisation – (9,872)

Issuance of shares upon initial public offering, net of issuing 

costs paid/(payment of listing expenses) 106,702 (18,608)
    

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 69,629 (49,599)
    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 144,458 86,388

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 18(a) 210,210 123,822

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 18(a) 354,668 210,210
    

The Notes on pages 90 to 146 form part of these financial statements .
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XIV. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1	 GENERAL INFORMATION

Hollwin Urban Operation Service Group Co., Ltd (the “Company”) was established as a limited liability company 

with registered capital of RMB10,000,000 on 7 September 2015 in Changsha, Hunan Province, the People’s 

Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 17 May 2024 (“Listing date”). The address of the Company’s 

registered office is 9/F, Building A1, Xiangjiang Times Square,179 Pilot Road, Yuelu District, Changsha, Hunan 

Province, the PRC.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the property management 

services, urban services and commercial operation services as defined in Note 4(b). Further details on the main 

services lines and operation segments of the Group are set out in Note 4.

2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)	 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRS Accounting Standards 

issued by International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the 

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure 

provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. 

Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by International Accounting 

Standards Board (“IASB”) that are first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting 

period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial 

application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current accounting 

period reflected in these financial statements.

(b)	 Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 comprise the Group and the 

Group’s interest in an associate and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires management 

to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 

experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results 

of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

XIV. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)	 Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 

or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant 

effect on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

(c)	 Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB to these 

financial statements for the current accounting period:

•	 Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification of liabilities as current or non-

current

•	 Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Non-current liabilities with covenants

•	 Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback

•	 Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and IFRS Accounting Standards 7, Financial 

instruments: Disclosures – Supplier finance arrangements

The adoption of the amended IFRS Accounting Standards have no material effect on how the Group’s results 

and financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The Group has not 

applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

(d)	 Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 

has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights (held 

by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary, other than subsidiary which is acquired through business combination under 

common control, is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 

commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any 

unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated 

financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way 

as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)	 Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the 

Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those 

interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those 

interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect 

to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 

share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statements of financial position within equity, 

separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in 

the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statements of profit or loss and the 

consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit 

or loss and total comprehensive income for the period between non-controlling interests and the equity 

shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 

as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling 

interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to 

goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that 

subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former 

subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the 

fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an 

investment in an associate or a joint venture (see Note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 

impairment losses (see Note 2(h)(ii)).

(e)	 Associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the Company has significant influence, but not control or joint 

control, over the financial and operating policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group or the Company has joint control, whereby the Group 

or the Company has the rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and 

obligations for its liabilities.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)	 Associate and joint ventures (Continued)

An interest in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity 

method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the 

acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). 

The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 

the investment, and any direct investment into the associate or joint venture that forms part of the Group’s 

equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share 

of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see Note 2(h)(ii)). At each 

reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that the investment is impaired. 

Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the 

investees and any impairment losses for the period are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive 

income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s 

interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group 

has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, 

the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method, together with any 

other long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the 

joint venture, after applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests where applicable (see Note 2(h)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associate and joint 

venture are eliminated to the extent of Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses 

provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately 

in profit or loss. If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the 

retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity 

method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint control over joint venture or significant influence over 

associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss 

being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant 

influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of 

a financial asset.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see 

Note 2(h)(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct 

labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring 

the site on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads and borrowing 

costs.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are 

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are 

recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of items of property, plant and equipment less their 

estimated residual values, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

–	 Leasehold improvement	 Over the shorter of the lease term or  

the estimated useful life of the asset

–	 Right-of-use assets	 Over the lease term

–	 Motor vehicles	 3 – 5 years

–	 Machinery and electronic equipment	 3 – 5 years

–	 Furniture and others	 3 – 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is 

allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful 

life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually. No depreciation is provided in respect of 

construction in progress until it is completed and ready for intended use.

(g)	 Lease

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 

in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of 

the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.
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(g)	 Lease (Continued)

(i)	 As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component (s) and non-lease component (s), the Group has elected 

not to separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and any associated 

non-lease components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, 

except for leases that have a short lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of low-value items such 

as laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value item, the 

Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated 

lease payments are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease 

payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that 

rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, 

the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is recognised using the effective 

interest method. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the 

measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which 

comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before 

the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-

of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 

restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their present value, less 

any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(f) and 2(h)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change 

in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable 

under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether the 

Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the 

lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 

the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has 

been reduced to zero.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g)	 Lease (Continued)

(i)	 As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease modification, which means a change in the 

scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if 

such modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured 

based on the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date 

of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion of long-term lease liabilities 

is determined as the present value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within twelve 

months after the reporting period.

(ii)	 As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. 

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating 

lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in 

the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income from 

operating leases is recognised in accordance with Note 2(q)(ii)(c).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as an 

operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease 

is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described above, then the Group 

classified the sub-lease as an operating lease.

For a sublease classified as a finance lease, the Group derecognises the right-of-use asset relating to 

the head lease that it transfers to the sublessee and recognises the finance lease receivables in the 

sublease when the Group enters into the sublease. Any difference between the right-of-use asset and 

the finance lease receivables in the sublease is recognised in profit or loss.

During the term of the sublease, the Group recognises interest income as it accrues on the outstanding 

balance of finance lease receivables using the effective interest rate method and interest expense on 

the lease liability relating to the head lease.

For a sublease classified as an operating lease, the Group retains the lease liability and the right-of-use 

asset relating to the head lease in its consolidated statements of financial position.
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(h)	 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)	 Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”s) on the financial assets 

measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits, trade 

receivables and other receivables), and contract assets as defined in IFRS 15 (see Note 2(j)).

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including financial assets measured at FVTPL, are not 

subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present 

value of all expected cash shortfalls (i. e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in 

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates where the effect of 

discounting is material:

–	 Cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits, trade and other receivables and contract 

assets: effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an approximation thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 

which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable information that 

is available without undue cost or effort. This includes information about past events, current 

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

–	 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default events within 

the 12 months after the reporting date; and

–	 lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events over the 

expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)	 Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)	 Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount equal 

to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the 

Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an 

assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs 

unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial 

recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at 

the reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the 

Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations 

to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); 

or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 

information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking 

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition:

–	 failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates;

–	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or internal credit 

rating (if available);

–	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

–	 existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that 

have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.
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(h)	 Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)	 Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit 

risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed 

on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, 

such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk 

since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss 

in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a 

corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2(q)(ii)(a) is calculated based on the gross carrying 

amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income 

is calculated based on the amortised cost (i. e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the 

financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset 

is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 

cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:

–	 significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

–	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

–	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

–	 significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an 

adverse effect on the debtor; or

–	 the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the issuer.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)	 Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)	 Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract asset is written off (either partially or in full) 

to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group 

determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient 

cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of 

impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

(ii)	 Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify 

indications that the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised no 

longer exists or may have decreased:

–	 property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets;

–	 intangible assets;

–	 investments in an associate and joint ventures; and

–	 investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statements of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

–	 Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value 

in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely 

independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest 

group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i. e. a cash-generating unit).
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(h)	 Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)	 Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

–	 Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the 

cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 

recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 

of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the 

carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except 

that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of 

disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

–	 Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 

favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment 

losses are credited to profit or loss in the period in which the reversals are recognised.

(i)	 Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary course of business, in the process of production 

for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the 

rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated 

selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated 

costs necessary to make the sale.

Cost of inventories are calculated using the first in first out method formula and comprises all costs of 

purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 

and condition.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period 

in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are 

recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any 

write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense 

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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(j)	 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see Note 2(q)) before being 

unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets 

are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(h)(i) and are reclassified to receivables 

when the right to the consideration becomes unconditional (see Note 2(k)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable consideration before the Group 

recognises the related revenue (see Note 2(q)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group 

has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related 

revenue. In such latter cases, a corresponding receivable is also recognised (see Note 2(k)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For 

multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net 

basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest accrued 

under the effective interest method.

(k)	 Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right 

to receive consideration is unconditional only the passage of time is required before payment of that 

consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive 

consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses 

(see Note 2(h)(i)).

(l)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts 

of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of 

maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. 

Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs (see Note 2(h)(i)).
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(m)	 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost 

unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(n)	 Employee benefits

(i)	 Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement 
plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 

and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated services are 

rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, 

these amounts are stated at their present values. Contribution to appropriate local defined contribution 

retirement schemes pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC are recognised as 

an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

(ii)	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 

those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(o)	 Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the 

extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 

and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax 

payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any 

uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
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(o)	 Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

–	 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give 

rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;

–	 temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the extent 

that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable 

that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

–	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill; and

–	 those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement 

the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities 

and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 

differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 

can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary 

differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset 

in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, 

based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 

realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

(p)	 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value 

of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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(p)	 Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

An onerous contracts exists when the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting 

the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract. 

Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of the 

terminating the contract and the net cost of fulfilling the contract. The cost of fulfilling the contract includes 

both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to 

fulfilling that contract.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 

economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 

or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the 

probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(q)	 Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services 

or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer at the amount of 

promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on 

behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any 

trade discounts. sales taxes.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)	 Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer, at the 

amount of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those 

amounts collected on behalf of third parties such as value added tax or other sales taxes.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q)	 Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)	 Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group principally generates its revenue from the provision of property management services, 

lighting system operation services, municipal sanitation services, landscaping and engineering services, 

commercial operation services and parking lot operation services. The Group’s revenue is derived from 

the following sources:

–	 Provision of property management services, lighting system operation services, and 

municipal sanitation services

For property management services, lighting system operation services and municipal sanitation 

services income from properties and public facilities managed under lump sum basis, where 

the Group acts as principal and is primarily responsible for providing the certain services to the 

property owners or users, the Group bills a fixed amount for services provided on a periodical 

basis and recognises as revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right to invoice and that 

corresponds directly with the value of performance completed.

–	 Provision of commercial operation services

Commercial operation services to owners of the shopping malls mainly include tenant sourcing 

services, tenant management and rent collection services, for which the service fee is calculated 

at a percentage of rental fees and revenue is recognised monthly when such services are 

provided.

–	 Provision of landscaping and engineering services

Revenue from the provision of landscaping and engineering services is recognised over time, using 

an input method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the 

Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is 

created or enhanced. The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion of the actual 

costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the engineering services.

–	 Provision of parking lot operation services

Revenue from the provision of parking lot operation services consists of fees from users for the 

access of parking lot space provided by the Group. The price of the parking fee is based on a per 

use or monthly or contractual basis.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q)	 Revenue and other income (Continued)

(ii)	 Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective interest method.

(b)	 Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially when there is 

reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions 

attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as 

income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are 

incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised as deferred 

income in the consolidated statements of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a 

systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

(c)	 Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal 

instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is 

more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. 

Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net 

lease payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are 

recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(d)	 Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive 

payment is established.

(r)	 Related parties

(a)	 A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that 
person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.
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2	 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)	 Related parties (Continued)

(b)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)	 One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a Group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)	 Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group.

(vi)	 The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)	 The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(s)	 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are 

identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management 

for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of 

business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 

segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and 

services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute 

the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments 

which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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3	 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Key source of estimation uncertainty in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is as follow:

(i)	 Expected credit losses for receivables and contract assets

The Group makes allowances on receivables based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss 

rates. The Group used judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment 

calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates 

at the end of each reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount 

of trade and other receivables, contract assets, and the related loss allowances in the period in which such 

estimate is changed. For details of the key assumptions and inputs used, see Note 24.

(ii)	 Determination method and measuring of performance progress of landscaping and 
engineering services

The Group determines the performance progress of the landscaping and engineering services using the input 

method. Specifically, the Group determines the performance progress according to the proportion of the 

accumulated actual landscaping and engineering cost in the estimated total cost. The accumulated actual 

cost includes the direct cost and indirect cost incurred in the process of the Group transferring goods or 

rendering services to customers.

The landscaping and engineering contract revenue with the customer is determined by the landscaping 

and engineering cost. The proportion of the actual landscaping and engineering cost to the estimated total 

cost can truly reflect the performance progress of the landscaping and engineering service. In view of the 

long lifetime of the landscaping and engineering contract and the possibility of spanning several accounting 

periods, the Group will review and revise the budget with the progress of the landscaping and engineering 

contract, and adjust the revenue recognition amount accordingly.
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4	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a)	 Revenue

The Group principally generates its revenue from the provision of property management services, urban 

services and commercial operation services as defined in Note 4(b).

(i)	 Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers and other sources by major services lines is as 

follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers within the 

scope of IFRS 15

Disaggregated by major service lines

  – Provision of property management services 278,526 237,902

  – Provision of municipal sanitation services 62,971 52,713

  – Provision of lighting system operation services 62,186 67,497

  – Provision of commercial operation services 61,338 60,683

  – Provision of landscaping and engineering services 162,046 186,347

  – Provision of parking lots services 52,436 42,632
   

679,503 647,774
   

Revenue from other sources

Disaggregated by major services lines

  – sublease of parking lots 4,008 4,101
   

683,511 651,875
   

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of revenue recognition and by 

geographic markets is disclosed in Note 4(b)(i) and 4(b)(iv).
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4	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)	 Revenue (Continued)

(ii)	 Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the Group’s revenue during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Changsha Urban Development Group Co., Ltd. and its 

subsidiaries (excluding the Group, together, the “CSUD 

Group”) (Note (a)) 251,925 278,259
   

Note:

(a)	 Revenue from all three operating segments as defined in Note 4(b).

(iii)	 Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from contracts with 
customers in existence at the reporting period date

For property management services, municipal sanitation services, commercial operational services and 

lighting system operation services, the Group recognises revenue when the services are provided on 

monthly basis and recognises to which the Group has a right to invoice and that corresponds directly 

with the value of performance completed. The Group has elected the practical expedient not to disclose 

the remaining performance obligations for the above types of contracts.

For landscaping and engineering services contracts entered into by the customers with the Group, the 

aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations under 

the Group’s existing contracts is RMB50,125,000 (2023: RMB61,041,000) as at 31 December 2024. 

The Group will recognise the expected revenue in future when or as the work is completed, which is 

expected to occur over the next 1 to 12 months, respectively, as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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4	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b)	 Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by services lines. In a manner 

consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s chief operating decision 

maker (“CODM”) for the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has 

presented the following three reportable segments.

–	 Property Management Services which include management and operation services provided to 

commercial properties, residential properties, and public properties.

–	 Urban Services which include the provision of lighting system operation services, municipal sanitation 

services, landscaping and engineering services, parking lot operation services and sublease of parking 

lot.

–	 Commercial Operation Services which include the provision of commercial operation services such as 

tenant sourcing services, tenant management, rent collection services and sublease of commercial 

properties.

(i)	 Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the 

Group’s CODM monitors the results attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales generated 

by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the 

depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

Segment profit/loss represents gross profit earned by/loss from each segment.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by timing of revenue recognition, as 

well as information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most 

senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment 

performance for the period is set out below.
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4	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b)	 Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)	 Segment results (Continued)

Property Management 
Services Urban Services

Commercial Operation 
Services Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from external 
customers

Revenue from contracts with 
customers within the scope 
of IFRS 15

Disaggregated by timing of 
revenue recognition

Point in time 4,410 2,295 – – 1,998 1,587 6,408 3,882
Over time 286,681 235,607 327,074 349,189 59,340 59,096 673,095 643,892

         

Subtotal 291,091 237,902 327,074 349,189 61,338 60,683 679,503 647,774
         

Revenue from other sources
Gross rental income – – 4,008 4,101 – – 4,008 4,101

         

Total 291,091 237,902 331,082 353,290 61,338 60,683 683,511 651,875
         

Inter-segment revenue 8,835 7,857 370 275 – 268 9,205 8,400
         

Reportable segment revenue 299,926 245,759 331,452 353,565 61,338 60,951 692,716 660,275
         

Gross profit 50,617 35,950 84,617 78,009 37,090 37,872 172,324 151,831
         

(ii)	 Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Reportable segment revenue 692,716 660,275

Elimination of inter-segment revenue (9,205) (8,400)
   

Consolidated revenue (Note 4(a)) 683,511 651,875
   

(iii)	 Segment assets and liabilities

No segment assets and liabilities information are provided as no such information is regularly provided 

to CODM of the Group on making decision of resources allocation and performance assessment.

(iv)	 Geographic information

No geographical segment analysis is shown as all of the Group’s revenue are derived from activities in, 

and from customers located in the PRC and all the Group’s assets are situated in the PRC.
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5	 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:

(a)	 Finance income

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest income from bank deposits (2,722) (2,212)

Interest income from long-term deposits (8) –
   

(2,730) (2,212)
   

(b)	 Finance costs

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 20) 68 6
   

(c)	 Staff costs

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, wages and other benefits 97,717 83,201

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan 9,428 8,340
   

107,145 91,541
   

Note:	 Employees of the Group’s PRC entities are required to participate in a defined contribution scheme administrated and 
operated by the local municipal governments (“State Operated Scheme”). The Group’s entities contribute funds which are 
calculated on certain percentages of the employee salary as agreed by the local municipal government to the scheme to 
fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

Qualified employees of the Group’s entities are also eligible to participate in a defined contribution scheme operated by the 
Group (“Group Operated Scheme”). The Group’s entities contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentages of 
the qualified employees’ salary as a part of their retirement benefit.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of retirement benefits associated with the State Operated 
Scheme.



115HOLLWIN URBAN OPERATION SERVICE GROUP CO., LTD

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

XIV. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5	 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(d)	 Other items

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation and amortisation

  – Property, plant and equipment (Note 10(a)) 7,683 7,005

  – Intangible assets (Note 11) 36 103
   

7,719 7,108
   

Auditors’ remuneration 2,581 30

Listing expenses 2,057 82
   

(e)	 Expected credit loss

Expected credit losses recognised/(reversed) during the year are from items below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 11,009 677

Contract assets (2,657) 5,926

Others 1,354 663
   

9,706 7,266
   

(f)	 Other net income

Notes 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Government grants (i) (980) (403)

Exchange loss 692 –

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment (2) (3)

Super deduction of value-added tax (“VAT”) (ii) – (1,902)

Others (246) 124
    

(536) (2,184)
    

Notes:

(i)	 For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the government grants received by the Group mainly related to subsidies 
for staff retention and acquisition of non-current assets.

(ii)	 Pursuant to the relevant regulation, the super deduction of value-added tax policy applied to the Group was expired on 31 
December 2023.
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6	 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a)	 Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current tax – PRC Corporate Income Tax

Provision for the year 26,607 25,755

Over-provision in respect of prior year (86) –

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (Note 22(b)) (2,889) (2,933)
   

23,632 22,822
   

(b)	 Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before taxation 95,114 93,000

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at the rates 

applicable to profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned (Note (i)) 23,779 23,250

Tax effect of PRC preferential tax rates (Note (ii)) (181) (229)

Tax effect of share of profits less losses of an associate and 

joint ventures (459) (544)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 579 345

Over-provision in respect of prior year (86) –
   

Actual income tax expense 23,632 22,822
   

Notes:

(i)	 The Group’s entities in the PRC are subject to PRC income tax at 25%.

(ii)	 Certain entities of the Group had been filed as Small Low-Profit Enterprises for previous years. The 

management of the Group believes that these entities will continue to be qualified as Small Low-Profit 

Enterprises for the year ended 31 December 2024 and are subject to a preferential effective tax rate at 

5% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 5%).
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7	 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of 

the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

2024

Directors’ fees

Salaries, 

allowances 

and other 

benefits

Discretionary 

bonuses

Retirement 

scheme 

contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Chairman and executive 

director

Xie Yi – 701 – 64 765

Executive Directors

Wong Kwok Fu – 753 – 73 826

Duan Wenming – 412 – 53 465

Yan Yongxiang (resigned on 9 

October 2024) – 478 – 55 533

Yang Xin (appointed on 30 October 

2024) – 155 – 17 172

Non-Executive Director

Yu Xiao (Note (i)) – – – – –

Independent Non-Executive 

Directors

Chan Ka Lai (Note (ii)) 120 – – – 120

Dai Xiaofeng (Note (ii)) 120 – – – 120

Tse Chi Wai (Note (ii)) 120 – – – 120

Supervisors

Xiao Mingxi – 255 – 35 290

Huang Guohui – 574 – 64 638

Peng Juanjuan (Note (iii)) – – – – –
      

360 3,328 – 361 4,049
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7	 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

2023

Directors’ fees

Salaries, 

allowances  

and other 

benefits

Discretionary 

bonuses

Retirement 

scheme 

contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Chairman and executive 

director

Xie Yi – 731 – 63 794

Executive Directors

Wong Kwok Fu – 761 – 72 833

Duan Wenming – 408 – 55 463

Yan Yongxiang – 646 – 75 721

Non-Executive Director

Yu Xiao (Note (i)) – – – – –

Independent Non-Executive 

Directors

Chan Ka Lai (Note (ii)) 80 – – – 80

Dai Xiaofeng (Note (ii)) 80 – – – 80

Tse Chi Wai (Note (ii)) 80 – – – 80

Supervisors

Xiao Mingxi – 267 – 36 303

Huang Guohui – 582 – 66 648

Peng Juanjuan (Note (iii)) – – – – –
      

240 3,395 – 367 4,002
      

Notes:

(i)	 Mr. Yu Xiao was not paid directly by the Group but received remuneration from the shareholder of the Company or its related 
parties other than the Group. No apportionment has been made as the qualifying services provided by him to the Group are 
incidental to his responsibilities to the shareholder of the Company.

(ii)	 In May 2023, Ms. Chan Ka Lai, Dr. Dai Xiaofeng and Mr. Tse Chi Wai were appointed as independent non-executive directors of 
the Company.

(iii)	 Ms. Peng Juanjuan was not paid directly by the Group but received remuneration from the shareholders of the Company or their 
related parties other than the Group. No apportionment has been made as the qualifying services provided by her to the Group are 
incidental to her responsibilities to the shareholder of the Company.
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8	 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four (2023: four) are directors or supervisors whose 

emoluments are disclosed in Note 7. The emoluments in respect of the other individual are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and other emoluments 438 430

Retirement scheme contributions 45 61
   

483 491
   

The emoluments of the one (2023: one) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

2024 2023

Number of 

individuals

Number of 

individuals

Nil to Hong Kong Dollar 1,000,000 1 1
   

9	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the 

Company of RMB71,858,000 (2023: RMB70,178,000) and the weighted average of 145,027,000 ordinary shares 

(2023: 120,000,000 shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2024 2023

’000 ’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 120,000 120,000

Effect of issue of new shares by initial public offering (Note 23(c)) 25,027 –
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 145,027 120,000
   

There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 and 

therefore the diluted earnings per share are same as the basic earnings per share.
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10	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a)	 Reconciliation of carrying amount

Right-of-use 

assets

Leasehold 

improvement

Machinery 

and 

electronic 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles

Furniture and 

others

Construction 

in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2023 370 18,506 7,322 23,234 3,806 – 53,238

Additions – – 7,895 653 378 – 8,926

Disposals – – (109) (69) (78) – (256)
        

At 31 December 2023 370 18,506 15,108 23,818 4,106 – 61,908

Additions 3,539 1,300 1,319 243 328 281 7,010

Disposals/expiration (370) – (64) – (94) – (528)
        

At 31 December 2024 3,539 19,806 16,363 24,061 4,340 281 68,390
        

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2023 (153) (17,990) (5,161) (10,401) (3,465) – (37,170)

Charge for the year (169) (397) (1,077) (5,065) (297) – (7,005)

Written back on disposal – – 92 69 77 – 238
        

At 31 December 2023 (322) (18,387) (6,146) (15,397) (3,685) – (43,937)

Charge for the year (536) (393) (1,833) (4,565) (356) – (7,683)

Written back on disposal/

expiration 370 – 56 – 90 – 516
        

At 31 December 2024 (488) (18,780) (7,923) (19,962) (3,951) – (51,104)
        

Net book value:

At 31 December 2024 3,051 1,026 8,440 4,099 389 281 17,286
        

At 31 December 2023 48 119 8,962 8,421 421 – 17,971
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10	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b)	 Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Properties leased for own use, carried at 

depreciated cost 10(a) 3,051 48
    

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

Notes 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by 

class of underlying asset:

  – P�roperties leased for own use, carried at 

depreciated cost (i) 536 169

Interest on lease liabilities 5(b) 68 6

Expense relating to short-term leases 7,859 4,331

Variable lease payments not included in the 

measurement of lease liabilities (ii) 15,609 12,373
    

Notes:

(i)	 During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, additions to right-of-use assets were primarily related to the 
capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

	 Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 18(d) and 20, 
respectively. The Group leases apartments and commercial properties under leases expiring in 1-3 years.

(ii)	 The Group leased a number of parking lots which contain variable lease payment terms that are based on revenue 
generated from the parking lots and there is no fixed lease payment. These payment terms are common in parking lots 
where the Group operates. Variable lease payments are based on 15-60% of the Group’s sublease revenue during each 
year.
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11	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software

RMB’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2023 386

Additions 88
  

At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 474
  

Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 January 2023 (288)

Charge for the year (103)
  

At 31 December 2023 (391)

Charge for the year (36)
  

At 31 December 2024 (427)
  

Net book value:

At 31 December 2024 47
  

At 31 December 2023 83
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12	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or 

liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Name of company

Place of 

incorporation and 

business

Particulars of 

registered/ paid-

up capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal activities

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held by the 

Company

Held by a 

subsidiary

Changsha Chengfa Property Management Co., 

Ltd.長沙城發物業管理有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB20,000,000/ Nil 100% 100% – Provision of property 

management services

Changsha Chengtou Property Service Co., Ltd.

長沙城投物業服務有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB500,000/ 

RMB500,000

100% 100% – Provision of property 

management services

Hunan Pilot Modern Landscaping Greening 

Company Limited湖南省先導現代園林綠化

有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 

RMB10,000,000

100% 100% – Provision of landscaping 

services

Changsha Urban Lighting Operation and 

Development Co., Ltd.長沙城市照明運營發

展有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 

RMB5,000,000

100% 100% – Provision of public facility 

management services

Changsha Chengfa Commercial Management 

Co., Ltd.長沙城發商業管理有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB20,000,000/ 

RMB20,000,000

100% 100% – Provision of commercial 

operation services

Changsha Chengfa Xingjia Apartment Operation 

and Management Co., Ltd.長沙城發星家公

寓運營管理有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 

RMB500,000

100% – 100% Provision of apartment 

operation services

Changsha Chengtou Asset Operation Co., Ltd.

長沙城投資產經營有限責任公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB5,000,000/ 

RMB5,000,000

100% – 100% Provision of commercial 

operation services

Changsha Parking Lot Investment Construction 

Operation Co., Ltd.長沙市停車場投資建設

經營有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB6,000,000/ 

RMB6,000,000

100% 100% – Provision of parking lot 

leasing service

Guiyang Hongcheng Service Co., Ltd.貴陽泓城

服務有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB10,000,000/ 

RMB1,020,000

51% 51% – Provision of property 

management services

Hunan Hollwin Security Service Co., Ltd.湖南泓

盈保安服務有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB10,000,000/ Nil 100% 100% – Provision of security 

services

Changsha Hollwin Yunda Property Service Co., 

Ltd.長沙泓盈運達物業服務有限公司(i)(ii)

the PRC RMB100,000/ Nil 51% 51% – Provision of property 

management services
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12	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(i)	 The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English translation of the name is for identification only.

(ii)	 The entities are registered under the PRC law with limited liability.

13	 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE

The following list contains a material joint venture of the Group and the Company, which is unlisted corporate entity 

whose quoted market price is not available:

Name of joint venture

Form of business 

structure

Place of 

incorporation and 

business

Particulars of 

registered/ paid-

up capital

Proportion of ownership interest  

held by the Company

Principal activity2024 2023

Pingxiang Huiheng Pilot Property Management 

Co., Ltd. *萍鄉市匯恒先導物業管理有限公

司(“Pingxiang Huiheng”)

Company with 

limited liability

the PRC RMB8,000,000/

RMB2,400,000

55% 55% Provision of property 

management 

services
       

*	 The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English translation of the name is for identification only.

Pursuant to the article of association of Pingxiang Huiheng, and the shareholders’ agreements between the 

shareholders of Pingxiang Huiheng, both the Company and another shareholder of Pingxiang Huiheng have 

the power to nominate two directors to Pingxiang Huiheng, while the remaining director shall be selected by 

employees’ representations. However, at least four out of five directors are required to pass a resolution by its 

board of directors. Accordingly, unanimous consent from both of shareholders is required for decisions about the 

relevant activities of Pingxiang Huiheng. Therefore, the Group and the other shareholder of Pingxiang Huiheng 

have joint control over Pingxiang Huiheng, and the Group recognises its investment in Pingxiang Huiheng as an 

investment in a joint venture.
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13	 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Summarised financial information of Pingxiang Huiheng, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and 

reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current assets 23,467 25,160

Non-current assets 176 299

Current liabilities (7,879) (10,412)

Equity 15,764 15,047

Revenue 11,836 25,021

Profit from continuing operations 718 2,182

Profit and total comprehensive income 718 2,182

Reconciled to the Group’s interest in the joint venture

Gross amount of net assets of the joint venture 15,764 15,047

Group’s effective interest 55% 55%

Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture 8,671 8,276

Group’s share of profits and total comprehensive income 395 1,200
   

The following list contains joint ventures of the Group and the Company that are not individually material, which is 

unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market prices are not available:

Proportion of ownership interest 

held by the Company

Name of joint venture

Form of business 

structure

Place of 

incorporation and 

business

Particulars of 

registered/ paid-

up capital 2024 2023 Principal activity

Changsha Wangcheng District New Hope Pilot 

Property Management Co., Ltd. *長沙市

望城區新希望先導物業管理有限責任公司

(“Wangcheng Property Management”)

Company with 

limited liability

the PRC RMB5,000,000/

RMB5,000,000

51% 51% Provision of property 

management 

services

Huaihua Hecheng District Chengtou Property 

Management Co., Ltd. *懷化市鶴城區城

投物業管理有限公司(“Huaihua Property 

Management”)

Company with 

limited liability

the PRC RMB10,000,000/

RMB3,000,000

51% 51% Provision of property 

management 

services

       

*	 The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English translation of the name is for identification only.
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13	 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually material:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial joint ventures in 

the consolidated statement of financial position 5,964 4,804

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of those joint ventures’ 

profits less losses and net total comprehensive income 1,072 310
   

14	 INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

The following list contains an associate of the Group that is not individually material, which is an unlisted corporate 

entity whose quoted market prices is not available:

Name of associate

Form of business 

structure

Place of 

incorporation and 

business

Particulars of 

registered/ paid-

up capital

Proportion of ownership interest  

held by the Group

Principal activity2024 2023

Changsha Chengyu Commercial 

Management Co., Ltd.長沙市城寓商業

管理有限公司(“Chengyu”)

Company with 

limited liability

the PRC RMB25,000,000/

RMB25,000,000

40% 40% Provision of property 

management 

services
       

Summarised financial information of the associate, are disclosed below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount of associate in the consolidated statements of 

financial position 10,736 11,039

Amounts of the Group’s share of associate net profits and total 

comprehensive income 369 668
   

15	 INVENTORIES

Inventories in the consolidated statements of financial position comprise:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Consumables 3,680 4,152
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16	 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(a)	 Contract assets

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Arising from performance under lighting system operations 

services, municipal sanitation services and landscaping and 

engineering services contracts

  – related parties (Note 26(d)) 162,870 124,926

  – third parties 133,546 137,548
   

296,416 262,474

Less: l�oss allowance on contract assets (10,114) (12,771)
   

286,302 249,703
   

(b)	 Contract liabilities

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Billings in advance of performance under property management 

services and landscaping and engineering services contracts

  – related parties (Note 26(d)) 3,186 2,021

  – third parties 20,392 16,454
   

23,578 18,475
   

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the advance payments made by customers while the 

underlying services are yet to be provided.

Movements in contract liabilities

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance as 1 January 18,475 13,637

Revenue recognised that was included in the balance of 

contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (18,475) (13,637)

Increase by cash received 23,578 18,475
   

Balance at 31 December 23,578 18,475
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17	 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables

  – related parties (Note 26(d)) 49,377 54,888

  – third parties 149,075 51,849
   

198,452 106,737
   

Less: a�llowance for trade receivables (33,025) (22,016)
   

165,427 84,721
   

Other receivables 9,177 10,439

Less: a�llowance for other receivables (2,952) (1,598)
   

Subtotal 6,225 8,841
   

Amounts due from related parties (Note 26(d) ) 6,151 585

Bills receivable 204 –

Input VAT to be deducted 4,657 2,355

Prepayments 4,349 9,035

Prepayment for listing expenses – 19,645
   

187,013 125,182
   

Ageing analysis

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the date of relevant revenue 

recognised and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 123,907 71,813

1 to 2 years 39,116 12,596

Over 2 years 2,404 312
   

165,427 84,721
   

Trade receivables are due when the receivables are recognised.
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18	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a)	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at banks 359,993 214,789

Less: r�estricted bank deposits (Note) (5,325) (4,579)
   

354,668 210,210
   

Note:	 The restricted bank deposits are guarantee deposits for future settlement of salary to the migrant workers of the Group or its 
suppliers as required by relevant laws and regulations, and guarantee deposits for performance letters issued by banks to 
customers.

(b)	 Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before taxation 95,114 93,000

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 5(d) 7,719 7,108

Amortisation of deferred income 21 (272) (159)

Share of profits less losses of an associate and 

joint ventures 13/14 (1,836) (2,178)

Finance costs 5(b) 68 6

Finance income 5(a) (2,730) (2,212)

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 5(f) (2) (3)

Expected credit loss on trade receivables, other 

receivables and contract assets 5(e) 9,706 7,266

Changes in working capital:

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 472 (950)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, trade and 

other receivables (93,457) 34,588

Increase in long-term deposits (834) –

Increase in contract assets (33,942) (98,343)

Increase in trade and other payables 116,295 80,869

Increase in restricted bank deposits (746) (3,960)

Increase in contract liabilities 5,103 4,838

Increase in deferred income – 2,291
    

Cash generated from operation activities 100,658 122,161
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18	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and 

non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future 

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing 

activities.

Amounts due  

to related  

parties

Dividend  

payable

Lease  

liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 19) (Note 19) (Note 20)

At 1 January 2023 47,755 5,090 178 53,023
     

Changes from financing cash flows:

Advances from related parties 12,700 – – 12,700

Repayments of advances from related 

parties (28,575) – – (28,575)

Capital element of lease rentals paid – – (148) (148)

Interest element of lease rentals paid – – (6) (6)

Net cash out on reorganization (9,872) – – (9,872)

Dividend paid – (5,090) – (5,090)
     

Total changes from financing cash 

flows (25,747) (5,090) (154) (30,991)
     

Other changes:

Net off against trade receivables (12,000) – – (12,000)

Interest expenses (Note 5(b)) – – 6 6
     

Total other changes (12,000) – 6 (11,994)
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18	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Continued)

Amounts due 

to related 

parties

Dividend 

payable

Lease  

liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 19) (Note 19) (Note 20)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 

2024 10,008 – 30 10,038
     

Changes from financing cash flows:

Advances from related parties 3,183 – – 3,183

Repayments of advances from related 

parties (4,319) – – (4,319)

Capital element of lease rentals paid – – (669) (669)

Interest element of lease rentals paid – – (68) (68)

Dividends paid to equity shareholders of 

the Company – 35,200 – 35,200
     

Total changes from financing cash 

flows (1,136) 35,200 (737) 33,327
     

Other changes:

Increase in lease liabilities from entering 

into new leases during the year – – 3,539 3,539

Interest expenses (Note 5(b)) – – 68 68

Net off against trade receivables (Note 

26(d)) (4,863) – – (4,863)

Dividends declared during the year (Note 

23(b)) – (35,200) – (35,200)
     

Total other changes (4,863) (35,200) 3,607 (36,456)
     

At 31 December 2024 4,009 – 2,900 6,909
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18	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)	 Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise the following:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within operating cash flows (9,553) (8,418)

Within financing cash flows (737) (154)
   

(10,290) (8,572)
   

19	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables

  – related parties (Note 26(d)) 28,844 21,021

  – third parties 299,287 207,785
   

328,131 228,806
   

Amounts due to related parties (Note 26(d)) 4,009 10,008

Accrued payroll and other benefits 29,384 21,669

Other taxes and charges payables 29,032 19,492

Deposits 63,576 53,984

Receipts on behalf of property owners and tenants 17,390 22,120

Other payables and accrued charges 8,480 3,619
   

480,002 359,698
   

All trade and other payables (including amounts due to related parties) are interest-free, and are expected to be 

settled or recognised as expenses within one year or are repayable on demand.

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as 

follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 279,148 211,819

1 to 2 years 40,094 15,973

Over 2 years 8,889 1,014
   

328,131 228,806
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20	 LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at each reporting date:

2024 2023

Present 

value of the 

minimum lease 

payments

Total minimum 

lease 

payments

Present  

value of the  

minimum lease  

payments

Total minimum 

lease  

payments

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 761 891 30 32
     

After 1 year but within 2 years 578 677 – –

After 2 years but within 5 years 1,561 1,684 – –
     

2,139 2,361 – –
     

2,900 30
     

Less: t�otal future interest expenses (352) (2)

Present value of lease liabilities 2,900 30
     

21	 DEFERRED INCOME

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2,132 –

Received during the year – 2,291

Amortisation for the year (272) (159)
   

Balance at 31 December 1,860 2,132
   

The Group received government grants for the acquisition of non-current assets. These grants are deferred 

over the useful lives of relevant assets. The amortisation amounts were recognised as “other net income” in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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22	 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)	 Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position represents:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Corporate Income Tax

Tax recoverable – 2,434

Current taxation (13,690) (13,905)
   

(13,690) (11,471)
   

The movement of Corporate Income Tax are as follows:

At 1 January (11,471) (30,183)

Provision for PRC Income Tax for the year (26,521) (25,755)

PRC Income Tax paid 24,302 44,467
   

At 31 December (13,690) (11,471)
   

(b)	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i)	 Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 

position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax arising from:

Unused tax 

losses

Expected 

credit loss 

allowance

Government 

grants

Right-of-use 

assets

Lease 

liabilities and 

others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 13 7,279 – (54) 64 7,302

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 582 1,816 533 42 (40) 2,933
       

At 31 December 2023 and 1 

January 2024 595 9,095 533 (12) 24 10,235

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 575 2,331 (68) (717) 768 2,889
       

At 31 December 2024 1,170 11,426 465 (729) 792 13,124
       

(c)	 Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(o), the Group has not recognised deferred tax 

assets in respect of deductible temporary difference of RMB1,596,000 (2023: RMB1,596,000) as it is not 

probable that future taxable profits against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised will be 

available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
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23	 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a)	 Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated 

equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s 

individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Statutory 

surplus 

reserve

Retained 

profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2023 120,000 19,802 5,605 21,853 167,260

Profit and total 

comprehensive income for 

the year – – – 3,330 3,330

Appropriation for statutory 

surplus reserve – – 333 (333) –
      

At 31 December 2023 and 1 

January 2024 120,000 19,802 5,938 24,850 170,590

Profit and total 

comprehensive income for 

the year – – – 162,614 162,614

Issuance of shares by initial 

public offering 40,000 42,001 – – 82,001

Special dividends declared – – – (35,200) (35,200)

Appropriation for statutory 

surplus reserve – – 16,261 (16,261) –
      

At 31 December 2024 160,000 61,803 22,199 136,003 380,005
      



136 2024 Annual Report

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

XIV. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23	 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b)	 Dividends

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Special dividend declared and paid of RMB0.22 per ordinary 

share (2023: nil) 35,200 –

Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period of 

RMB0.23 per ordinary share (2023: nil) 36,800 –
   

72,000 –
   

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised as a liability at the 

end of the reporting period.

(c)	 Share capital and share premium

Number of shares 

in issue Share capital Share premium

RMB’000 RMB’000

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid

At 1 January 2023,31 December 2023 

and 1 January 2024 120,000,000 120,000 –

Share issued by initial public offering (Note) 40,000,000 40,000 42,001
    

At 31 December 2024 160,000,000 160,000 42,001
    

Note:	 40,000,000 ordinary shares of par value of RMB1.00 each were issued at a price of HK$3.2 per ordinary share upon the 
listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange. The proceeds of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$43,929,000), representing the par value, were credited to the Company’s share capital. The remaining proceeds, net of 
share issuance costs, of approximately RMB42,001,000 were credited to the Company’s share premium account.
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23	 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d)	 Nature and purposes of reserves

(i)	 Statutory surplus reserve

Statutory reserve is established in accordance with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the 

articles of association of the companies which are incorporated in the PRC until the reserve balance 

reaches 50% of their registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before distribution of 

a dividend to equity holders.

For the entities concerned, this reserve can be utilised in setting off accumulated losses or increasing 

capital and is non-distributable other than in liquidation.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, appropriation to statutory surplus reserve made by the 

Company’s subsidiaries amounting to RMB3,445,000 (2023 RMB6,353,000), respectively, and was 

included in the consolidated retained profits attributable to equity shareholders of the Company. As at 

31 December 2024, the statutory surplus reserve balance of the Company’s subsidiaries amounting 

to RMB24,301,000 (2023: RMB20,856,000) was included in the balance of the consolidated retained 

profits attributable to equity shareholders of the Company.

(e)	 Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, 

by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a 

reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between 

the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages 

and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of 

changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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24	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. 

No significant interest rate risk and currency risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business during the 

reporting period.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the Group 

to manage these risks are described below.

(a)	 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial 

loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and contract 

assets. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank 

deposits are limited because the counterparties are banks, financial institutions with a high credit standing 

assigned by external rating agency, for which the Group considers having low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

For other receivables, the directors of the Company make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability 

of other receivables based on historical settlement record, past experience and supportive forward-looking 

information. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, loss allowance of RMB2,952,000 and RMB1,598,000 was 

recognised in respect of other receivables based on the Group’s assessment.

To measure the ECLs, trade receivables and contract assets have been assessed on individual basis or on 

customer groups based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The historical loss rates 

are determined by reference to the credit rating analysis of respective customers and external data or based 

on the payment profiles of sales over 3 years period before the reporting period ends and the corresponding 

historical credit losses experienced within these periods. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect 

current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to 

settle the receivables.

The Group exposes to concentration of credit risk from individual customers. As at 31 December 2024,39.0% 

(2023: 46.8%) of the total trade receivables and contract assets were due from the Group’s largest customer, 

CSUD Group. And as at 31 December 2024 69.1% (2023: 77.7%) of the total trade receivables and contract 

assets were due from the Group’s five largest customers.
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24	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(a)	 Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 

receivables and contract assets as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

2024

Expected loss 

rate

Gross carrying 

amount Loss allowance

% RMB’000 RMB’000

On individual basis 100.0% 9,931 (9,931)

On customer group

  – Related parties 0.1% 212,248 (212)

  – Third parties

Within 1 year 4.7% 208,326 (9,711)

1-2 years 28.8% 57,719 (16,641)

Over 2 years 100.0% 6,644 (6,644)
    

494,868 (43,139)
    

2023

Expected loss rate

Gross carrying 

amount Loss allowance

% RMB’000 RMB’000

On individual basis 100.0% 10,671 (10,671)

On customer group

  – Related parties 0.1% 179,814 (180)

  – Third parties

Within 1 year 5.4% 155,651 (8,404)

1-2 years 29.9% 10,762 (3,219)

Over 2 years 100.0% 12,313 (12,313)
    

369,211 (34,787)
    

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to 

reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been 

collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the 

receivables. Trade receivables from third parties usually have higher expected loss rates. As at 31 December 

2024, trade receivables from third parties accounted for 75.1% (2023: 48.6%) of the total trade receivables. 

Loss allowances are calculated based on the ECL rates and reflected the increase in trade receivables from 

third parties during the reporting period.
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24	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

(b)	 Liquidity risk

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of each reporting period of the 

Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including 

interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the 

reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

2024

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

Within 1 year 

or on demand

More than 1 

year but less 

than 2 years

More than 2 

years but less 

than 5 years

More than 5 

years Total

Carrying 

amount at 31 

Dec

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and other payables 413,106 – – – 413,106 413,106

Lease liabilities 891 677 1,684 – 3,252 2,900
       

413,997 677 1,684 – 416,358 416,006
       

2023

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

Within 1 year or 

on demand

More than 1 year 

but less than 2 

years

More than 2 

years but less 

than 5 years

More than 5 

years Total

Carrying amount 

at 31 Dec

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and other payables 314,918 – – – 314,918 314,918

Lease liabilities 32 – – – 32 30
       

314,950 – – – 314,950 314,948
       

(c)	 Fair value measurement

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were not 

materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.



141HOLLWIN URBAN OPERATION SERVICE GROUP CO., LTD

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

XIV. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25	 COMMITMENTS

Commitments outstanding not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted for 6,562 6,650
   

26	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)	 Name and relationship with related parties

The immediate holding company is Changsha Urban Development Group Co., Ltd. (“CSUDGCL”).

(b)	 Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s 

directors as disclosed in Note 7 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 8, is as 

follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term employee benefits 5,426 5,717

Post-employment benefits 642 663
   

6,068 6,380
   

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note 5(c)).
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26	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)	 Related party transactions

The Group entered into the following material related party transactions:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Service provided to related parties

  – CSUD Group 251,925 278,259

  – Associates of CSUD Group 14,351 11,231
   

266,276 289,490
   

Purchase from related parties

  – CSUD Group 13,440 11,617

  – Associates of CSUD Group 13,753 12,315

  – Pingxiang Huiheng – 2,085
   

27,193 26,017
   

Short-term leases payment paid or payable to the CSUD Group 112 663

Variable lease payment paid or payable to the CSUD Group 14,330 11,243
   

14,442 11,906
   

Additions of right-of-use assets

  – CSUD Group 416 –
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26	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)	 Balance with related parties

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade in nature

Trade receivables (Note 17)

  – CSUD Group 45,986 50,038

  – Associates of CSUD Group 3,391 4,850
   

49,377 54,888
   

Contract assets (Note 16(a))

  – CSUD Group 158,312 122,561

  – Associates of CSUD Group 4,558 2,365
   

162,870 124,926
   

Other receivables (Note 17)

  – CSUD Group 6,006 564

  – Associates of CSUD Group 145 21
   

6,151 585
   

Prepayment for acquisition of non-current assets

  – CSUD Group – 1,400
   

Long-term deposits

  – CSUD Group 842 –
   

Note:	 Other receivables due from CSUD Group and its associates are trade in nature, interest-free and repayment on demand.
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26	 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)	 Balance with related parties (Continued)

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade in nature

Trade payables (Note 19)

  – CSUD Group 20,737 13,787

  – Associates of CSUD Group 4,123 1,334

  – Pingxiang Huiheng 3,929 5,845

  – Huaihua Property Management 55 55
   

28,844 21,021
   

Contract liabilities (Note 16(b))

  – CSUD Group 3,186 2,021
   

Lease liabilities

  – CSUD Group 213 –
   

Non-trade in nature

Other payables (Note 19)

  – CSUD Group 3,419 10,008

  – Associates of CSUD Group 502 –

  – Huaihua Property Management 88 –
   

4,009 10,008
   

Note:	 For the year ended 31 December 2024, amounts due to related parties with non-trade in nature amounting to 
RMB4,863,000 have been offset against amounts due from related parties with trade in nature through offsetting agreement 
between these relevant related parties and the Group.
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27	 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8,853 12,591

Investments in joint ventures 14,635 13,080

Investment in subsidiaries 12 88,906 87,886

Deferred tax assets 5,530 5,291

Prepayments for acquisition of non-current assets 2,890 1,426
    

120,814 120,274
    

Current assets

Inventories 1,015 4,152

Contract assets 64,524 46,757

Prepayments, trade and other receivables 209,408 94,344

Cash and cash equivalents 170,355 42,745
    

445,302 187,998
    

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 173,112 119,919

Contract liabilities 8,923 8,044

Lease liabilities 213 30

Current taxation 2,003 7,557
    

184,251 135,550
    

Net current assets 261,051 52,448
    

Total assets less current liabilities 381,865 172,722
    

Non-current liability

Deferred income 1,860 2,132
    

1,860 2,132
    

NET ASSETS 380,005 170,590
    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 23(a)

Share capital 160,000 120,000

Reserves 220,005 50,590
    

TOTAL EQUITY 380,005 170,590
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28	 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the board of the directors proposed a final dividend. Further details 

are disclosed in Note 23(b).

29	 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2024, the Directors consider the immediate parent of the Company to be CSUDGCL, which is 

established in the PRC, and the ultimate controlling party of the Company to be State-owned Assets Supervision 

and Administration Commission of Changsha Municipal People’s Government.

30	 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued a number of new or amended standards, 

which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been adopted in these 

financial statements. These developments include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for 

accounting 

periods beginning 

on or after

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates – Lack of 

exchangeability 1 January 2025

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: 

disclosures – Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial instruments 1 January 2026

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards – Volume 11 1 January 2026

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
  

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these developments is expected to be 

in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant 

impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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